# Reducing Myth Endorsement Towards LGBTI+ to Tackle Prejudice Towards Gender Diversity and Sexual Orientation

# Pınar Tekşen Rasheed

Submitted to the Institute of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in General Psychology

Eastern Mediterranean University February 2022 Gazimağusa, North Cyprus

	Prof. Dr. Ali Hakan Ulusoy Director
I certify that this thesis satisfies all the require Master of Science in General Psychology.	ements as a thesis for the degree of
C	Prof. Dr. Fatih Bayraktar Chair, Department of Psychology
We certify that we have read this thesis and that scope and quality as a thesis for the degree Psychology.	of Master of Science in General
	Prof. Dr. Şenel Raman Supervisor
	Examining Committee
1. Prof. Dr. Şenel Raman	
2. Asst. Prof. Dr. Pelin Karakuş Akalın	
3. Asst. Prof. Dr. Reşit Kışlıoğlu	

### **ABSTRACT**

The relationship between religiosity and essentialist beliefs on anti-LGBT+ prejudice has been largely investigated. These studies have shown that high religiosity, being male and having environmental essentialist beliefs enhance prejudice against LGBT+ community. Despite these findings, myths toward LGBT+'s have not yet been measured, hence one of the aims of the current study was to assess myth endorsement to LGBT+'s. Moreover, text-based manipulation on essentialist beliefs has been used widely in the literature, however, the effect of other manipulation methods on essentialist beliefs to reduce myth endorsement and anti-LGBT+ prejudice have not been assessed. The current study was the first experimental research to develop a myth scale and use video manipulations to influence essentialist beliefs. This study aimed to assess the role of religiosity and essentialist beliefs on myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community and to determine common myths about individuals from LGBT+ community to reduce discrimination and prejudice.

A sample of 112 Turkish speaking cisgender female and male 1<sup>st</sup> year university students from Eastern Mediterranean University in North Cyprus were assigned to three conditions and each group received a video recording regarding the etiology of homosexual sexual orientation. Participants in reality conditions were provided with actual literature findings regarding the etiology of homosexuality, whereas in environmental and genetic conditions, participants were provided with fictious findings regarding environmental and genetic etiology of homosexuality. Gender, as an independent variable, and attitude, as a dependent variable, were also included in the variables. It was hypothesized that participants in environmental condition would

have highest myth endorsement and more negative attitude toward LGBT+'s, followed

by participants in genetic and reality conditions. Participants with higher religiosity

were expected to have higher myth endorsement and more negative attitude than those

with lower religiosity. Also, male participants were expected to have higher myth

endorsement, higher religiosity, and more negative attitude than female participants.

Findings indicated significant impact of religiosity and essentialist beliefs on myth

endorsement. Additionally, participants in environmental condition had higher myth

endorsement than genetic. Also, participants in reality condition showed the lowest

myth endorsement and negative attitude. Male participants had more myth

endorsement and more negative attitudes toward LGBT+. The findings of the study

are discussed in light of the literature.

**Keywords:** Essentialist Beliefs, Religiosity, Myth Endorsement, LGBT+

iv

Dindarlık ve mit inanışların, özcü inançlar ve LGBT+ karşıtı önyargılar arasındaki ilişki birçok araştırmacı tarafından incelenmiştir. Bu araştırmalar, yüksek dindarlığın, erkek olmanın ve çevresel özcü inançlara sahip olmanın mitlerin desteklenmesini ve LGBT+ topluluğuna karşı önyargı geliştirmeyi artırdığını gösterse de, LGBT+'lere yönelik yaygın mitleri değerlendirecek bir ölçek literatürde yoktu. Ayrıca, özcü inançlar üzerinde metne dayalı manipülasyon literatürde yaygın olarak kullanılmış, ancak diğer manipülasyon yöntemlerinin özcü inançlar üzerindeki mit inanışını ve LGBT+ karşıtı önyargıyı azaltma etkisi hiçbir zaman değerlendirilmemiştir. Mevcut çalışma, LGBT+ bireylere yönelik yaygın mit inanışları ölçeğini geliştiren ve özcü inançlar üzerinde video manipülasyonu kullanan ilk deneysel araştırmadır. Bu çalışma, LGBT+ topluluğuna yönelik mitlerin desteklenmesinde dindarlık ve özcü inançların rolünü değerlendirmeyi ve ayrımcılığı ve önyargıyı azaltmak için LGBT+ topluluğuna mensup bireyler hakkında ortak mitleri belirlemeyi amaçlamıştır. Kuzey Kıbrıs'ta Doğu Akdeniz Üniversitesi'nden 112 Türkçe konuşan cisgender kadın ve erkek üniversite 1. sınıf öğrencileri üç farklı gruba atanmış ve her gruba eşcinsel cinsel yönelimin etiyolojisi ile ilgili video kaydı verilmiştir. Kontrol koşulundaki katılımcılara eşcinselliğin etiyolojisine ilişkin güncel literatür bulguları sunulurken, çevresel ve genetik koşullarda katılımcılara sırasıyla eşcinselliğin çevresel ve genetik etiyolojiye dayandığını savunan bulgular verilmiştir. Ayrıca bağımsız değişken olarak cinsiyet ve bağımlı değişken olarak LGBT+'lere yönelik sosyal tutum değişkenlere dahil edilmiştir. Kontrol ve genetik etiyoloji gruplarından sonra, çevresel etiyoloji grubundaki katılımcıların en yüksek mit inanışına ve LGBT+'lere karşı en olumsuz sosyal tutuma sahip olacağı varsayılmıştır. Daha yüksek dindarlığa sahip katılımcıların, daha düşük dindarlığa sahip olanlardan daha yüksek mit inanışına ve

daha olumsuz bir tutuma sahip olmaları bekleniyordu. Ayrıca erkek katılımcıların

kadın katılımcılara göre daha yüksek mit inanışına ve daha yüksek bir dindarlığa ve

daha olumsuz bir tutuma sahip olmaları bekleniyordu. Bulgular, dindarlığın ve özcü

inançların mit inanışlarının üzerinde önemli bir etkisi olduğunu göstermiştir. Buna ek

olarak, çevresel etiyoloji grubundaki katılımcılarda, genetik etiyoloji grubundaki

katılımcılara kıyasla daha yüksek mit inancı bulundu. Ayrıca, kontrol grubundaki

katılımcılar en düşük mit inanışı ve LGBT+ bireylere yönelik daha pozitif bir tutum

sergilediler. Erkek katılımcılar, LGBT+'ye karşı daha fazla mit inanışına ve daha

olumsuz tutumlara sahip olduğu gözlenmiştir. Çalışmanın bulguları literatür ışığında

tartışılmıştır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Özcü İnançlar, Dindarlık, Mit İnanışı, LGBT+

vi

# **DEDICATION**

For those who have suffered from prejudice and discrimination.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

Above all, I am forever grateful to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Şenel Hüsnü Raman for her endless support and guidance in this thesis, my career and education. I would like to express special thanks to Asst. Prof. Dr. Deniz Atalar for his treasured support and providing efficient solutions. I would also like to extend my gratitude towards Prof. Dr. Fatih Bayraktar and the rest of the Psychology Department for supporting and creating a lovely work environment.

Special thanks to my family, who gave up their needs and necessities for my pursuit of knowledge and supported me in every endeavor of my life. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to my friends and colleagues, especially Marriam Haghegh, and Yaren Müezzin for all their support and cherished time spent together in office and in social settings.

Last but not least, I wish to express special thanks to my life partner, Ahmad Rasheed, for always believing in me and looking out for me no matter what.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii
ÖZv
DEDICATIONvii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTviii
LIST OF TABLESxi
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Sexual Orientation1
1.2 Gender Diversity
1.3 Prejudice Toward LGBT+
1.4 Myth Endorsement Toward LGBT+5
1.4.1 Types of Myths
1.4.2 Common Myths Toward Homosexuality and Homosexual Individuals 6
1.4.3 Negative Consequences of Anti-LGBT+ Myths
1.5 Factors That Predict Anti-LGBT+ Prejudice and Myth Endorsement Toward
LGBT+
1.5.1 Psychological Essentialism
1.5.2 Religiosity
1.5.3 Gender
1.6 Context of the Current Study
2 METHOD
2.1 Participants
2.2 Design
2.3 Materials

2.3.1 Video Manipulation	24
2.3.2 Manipulation Check Questionnaire	25
2.3.3 Attitudes toward Homosexuality	26
2.3.4 Myths toward LGBTI+	26
2.3.5 Religiosity Scale and Demographic Questions	27
2.3.6 Ethical Considerations	28
2.4 Procedure	29
3 RESULTS	30
3.1 Manipulation Check	30
3.2 Attitudes	31
3.3 Myth Endorsement	32
4 DISCUSSION	36
REFERENCES	44
APPENDICES	73
Appendix A: Manipulation Check Questionnaire	74
Appendix B: Myth Scale	76
Appendix C: Religiosity Questions	78
Appendix D: Demographic Questions	80
Appendix E: Eastern Mediterranean University's Scientific Research	arch and
Publication Ethics Board Approval Letter	82

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Correlations Between Gender, Myth Endorsement, Attitude and Religiosity
30
Table 2. Mean Values for Beliefs About Etiology of Sexual Orientation Items Between
Conditions
Table 3. Mean and Standard Deviations for Myth Endorsement Between Groups33
Table 4. Mean and Standard Deviations for Condition*Gender Two-way Interaction
Effect on Myth Endorsement
Table 5. Mean and Standard Deviations for Condition*Religiosity Two-way
Interaction Effect on Myth Endorsement

# Chapter 1

## INTRODUCTION

Although the human rights of sexual and gender minorities have significantly increased, there are a number of societies worldwide that still regard different sexual orientations and gender diversity as illegal and punishable by law such as in many Muslim countries (Chua, 2015). Even though previous research has shown that low religiosity (Janssen & Scheepers, 2019), being female (Roggemans et al, 2015), and genetic essentialist beliefs (Frias-Navarro et al., 2015) can reduce the prejudice and discrimination, those studies only used text-based manipulation. This study was first to use video recordings to manipulate essentialist beliefs and to assess myth endorsement toward LGBT+. Therefore, the aim of the current research was to call attention to myth endorsement toward LGBT+ individuals by analyzing religiosity and essentialist beliefs as potential sources of bias, in order to challenge false beliefs and decrease prejudice and discrimination against individuals from the LGBT+ community.

#### 1.1 Sexual Orientation

Sexual orientation is defined as erotic, romantic or affective nature to another person. According to Van Anders, sexual orientation is the affection or interest toward another person (2015). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning are determined as different types of sexual orientation. Also, as stated by Lesbian & Gay Community Services Center (2022), although, gay refers to a person who has

affectionate and sexual feelings to the same-sex person, women prefer to use the term lesbian which means women who have erotic, romantic and affectional feelings toward other women. Moreover, bisexual refers to people who have sexual, romantic and affectionate feelings to both men and women. Sexual orientation is not limited to but inclusive of these aforementioned terms.

## 1.2 Gender Diversity

APA explains gender diversity as the degree to which a difference exists between gender identity, social roles and expressions of an individual and society's assigned characteristics of a person from a specific gender (American Psychological Association, 2015). Moreover, gender diversity is considered as an umbrella term that refers to differences and varieties in expressing gender (García Johnson & Otto, 2019). Queer refers to people who don't identify with any of sexual/gender identities above due to limitation in expressiveness of those labels. Lastly, questioning refers to people who have no clear-cut label and are in search of their sexual/gender identity. Gender diversity is a significant term for people who do not want to identify with any of existing gender identities, people who do not prefer to limit their identity, or people who prefer to change their gender identity etc. For instance, agender which is not identifying with any gender identity (Bosse & Chiodo, 2016), bigender which is identifying with two gender identities (Blechner, 2015), cisgender means identifying with biological/assigned gender identity (Aultman, 2014), gender nonconforming refers to individuals whose self-gender identity does not match with their biological identity which is assigned at birth (Vance et al., 2014), intersex refers to people who were born with sexual or reproductive organs that do not fit into traditional definitions of man and woman (Sax, 2002), non-binary refers to people don't identify with traditional male and female as a gender (Scandurra et al., 2019), transgender means

not identifying with biological gender identity (Kurdyla et al., 2021) and is an umbrella term for people whose gender identity does not match with their biological gender identity, are few gender identity terms. Moreover, people who identify as transgender may or may not use gender affirmative treatment to match their body with their felt identity (O'Neil et al., 2008).

Cumulatively, sexual orientation and gender diversity come under the acronym of LGBT+ which refers to lesbian, gay, transgender, bisexual, intersex, and more.

# 1.3 Prejudice Toward LGBT+

Prejudice is mostly unfavorable attitude toward an individual or a group (Brown, 2011). Prejudice has three components which are affective component that includes emotions such as hatred, dislike; a cognitive component which includes stereotypical attitudes or attributions; and a behavioral component such as discrimination or violence. Moreover, there are many categories of prejudice such as sexual, religious prejudice, ageism, sexism, and racism etc. (APA, 2020). Discrimination and prejudice toward LGBT+ members usually stem from bias against gender diversity and sexual orientation (United Nations Human Rights, 2021).

In a study conducted with 200 university students in Middle East Technical University in Turkey, researcher aimed to investigate sexism and attitudes toward LGBT+ individuals. Results revealed that participants who had especially higher hostile sexism scores had the most negative attitudes toward gay people (Sakallı, 2002). Sexism in homophobic attitudes is also supported by many researchers and it was found that female gay relationship is considered as 'erotic' and 'submissive' by general population whereas male homosexuality is considered as more perverted and abnormal

(Bernuy & Noe, 2017). Another study, conducted to assess essentialist beliefs toward masculine vs. feminine gay men, showed that essentialist beliefs were strongly associated with sexual prejudice and participants reported highest discomfort and discrimination toward feminine male gay individuals than masculine male gay individuals (Kiebel et al., 2020).

Sexual prejudice is having a negative attitude toward a person due to his/her sexual orientation (Burn, 2019). Especially, individuals from LGBT+ community are at most risk for experiencing sexual prejudice (Meyer, 2003).

Recent examples of discrimination and violence toward gay individuals include diagnosis of homosexual in DSM III (Morris, 2009), constant police arrests in bars, clubs and restaurants such as in Stonewall (Lorenzo, 2019), mass shooting in a gay club in Orlando, USA in 2016 (Zambelich & Hurt, 2016), hired assassins killed gay individuals in Iraq (Chua, 2015), gay activists were murdered in Budapest (Human Wrights Watch, 2020), and a transgender woman named Hande Kader who was raped and set on fire in Istanbul, Turkey (Atria, 2021). Discrimination and prejudice against individuals from LGBT+ community exist in daily life such as in healthcare (Stonewall, 2016), members also experience institutional discrimination which is biased practices or regulations that do not allow or give access to minority groups to seek resources and opportunities in education, in business/work, and in sport etc. (Cunningham & Light, 2016). For instance, 14% of LGBT+ members in Britain avoid seeking health care due to fear of being discriminated, 13% of LGBT+ members reported unequal health care and treatment from staff due to their sexual orientation (Stonewall, 2018). Moreover, 34% among the members of LGBT+ in Britain reported they have to hide their identity due to fear of discrimination and hatred, 18%

mentioned they were bullied at work (Stonewall, 2018). Also, 64% of LGBT+ individuals experienced hate crime which is defined as use of violence and aggression toward others regarding their race, sexual orientation, gender, ethnicity etc. (Chakraborti, 2018), violence, and abuse (Hubbard, 2021). According to the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, many LGBT+ members worldwide report they have faced discrimination and unfair treatment especially when seeking medical help, looking for jobs, and attending higher education (FRA, 2013). Furthermore, many LGBT+ individuals report experiencing violence and harassment in public places where getting help would seem easier (FRA, 2013). In the same report, 35% of LGBT+ members reported being attacked, harassed, and bullied just because of their sexual orientation over a 5-year period. Moreover, members of LGBT+ in Turkey face with constant rejection from society, legal restraints and homophobia due to high religiosity and patriarchal norms. There are many hate crimes, abuse, and harassment toward LGBT+ members that even some LGBT+ individuals commit suicide (Yenilmez, 2021). Access to health care in Turkey is another problem for LGBT+ members because of the prejudiced and discriminative attitude of health care professionals in Turkey toward sexual minorities. They refuse to help, or they simply prefer to ignore sexual diseases (Taşkın et al., 2020). LGBT+ individuals also experience bullying both offline and online more than heterosexual individuals (Koehler & Copp, 2021). Similarly, statistics show that transgender and gay individuals worldwide are at greater risk for violence and harassment than other members within LGBT+ community.

## 1.4 Myth Endorsement Toward LGBT+

Patai (1972) explained myths as traditional, religious false beliefs or stories that were used to explain cultural phenomena (as cited in Berger, 2018). The word 'myth' derives from 'mythos' in Greek and means word, saying or story (Bolle, 2021).

Moreover, according to Burhoe (1979), myths redefine and shape significant values or norms in a culture (as cited in Steadman & Palmer, 1997).

#### 1.4.1 Types of Myths

Although myths are commonly referred to ancient histories, there are three classifications of myth which are aetiological/etiological, historical, and psychological (Cohen, 1969). Aetiological myths explain natural events, forces, and reasons behind these events (Mark, 2018). For instance, myths that explain how the universe or world was created or how religion and rituals were established are example of aetiological myths (Mills, 2010). Historical myths include historical events that were passed to next generation to keep the meaning of the story alive like Odyssey and Iliad epics (Mark, 2018). Lastly, psychological myths are defined as misconceptions or misbeliefs regarding psychological factors that explain or justify human behavior and feelings (Mark, 2018). For instance, 'opposites attract', 'people use only 10% of their brain', and 'people with mental disorders display violent behavior' etc. (School of Humanities and Social Sciences, 2021). Since, the focus of this paper is psychological myths, the next section will continue with common myths toward homosexuality and gay individuals.

#### 1.4.2 Common Myths Toward Homosexuality and Homosexual Individuals

Myths toward gay people and homosexuality stem from psychological-social-cultural-developmental factors such as prejudice, sexual stigmatization, masculinity (Stotzer & Shih, 2012), upbringing/parents (Farr et al., 2019), culture, religion, and low education (Damante, 2016). Some of the common myths toward homosexuality and gay individuals include misbeliefs about their mental health. These include beliefs about orientation being a mental illness, having an abusive childhood (Schlatter & Steinback, 2011), their morality and personality traits (Madon, 1997), and lack of masculinity

perceptions (Steffens et al., 2019) or excess masculinity for gay women (Kite & Deaux, 1987). Moreover, many negative personality traits are associated with homosexuality such as being lonely, a coward, or being selfish (Staats, 1978). Some myths include false beliefs regarding religiosity such as 'they are not religious', 'homosexuality is against all the religions' and 'homosexuality is a sin' (Strong Family Alliance, 2017). Moreover, results revealed a positive correlation between negative attitudes toward sexual minorities and avoidance of any type of interaction with those minorities (Davis-Delano et al., 2020).

Other myths include society such as the belief that homosexuality destroys all societal values and norms and that homosexuality is a Western fashion (Youth Pride, 2021; as cited in Lesbian Gay Bisexual Transgender Center, 2021). Also, society affects the way people perceive homosexuality and treat gay individuals by reinforcing social norms about masculinity and heterosexuality such as 'men should be strong, gay men are feminine (Parrott et al., 2002), 'men should be masculine and tough and 'feminine characteristics are undesired and make men weak (Kilianski, 2003). Furthermore, infra-humanization which is defined as attributing less human characteristics to outgroup (Vaes, 2006) can be seen in common myths such as 'identity of gay people are not real, it is just a trend'. One of the many misbeliefs about homosexual individuals and members of LGBT+ community is that they demand special rights to be known and accepted by the society (PG Action, 2021). Lastly, another common myth about gay people and individuals from LGBT+ community is that they have HIV/AIDS, or they all eventually will (PG Action, 2021).

#### 1.4.3 Negative Consequences of Anti-LGBT+ Myths

As mentioned, myths toward the LGBT+ community implicate their mental health, family, relationships, social status, personality, moral norms and values. It is therefore assumed that these false beliefs will have a strong negative impact on the LGBT+ community in the form of negative attitudes and prejudice. These false beliefs create myth endorsement against the LGBT+ community which can reinforce the discrimination and violence against them.

It is not uncommon in the literature to find examples of the negative influences of myth endorsement for other stigmatized or disadvantaged groups. For instance, rape myth endorsement includes beliefs that support and justify sexual assault especially toward women (Edwards et al., 2011). Some of the rape myths are 'women like/enjoy hard sex, women are asking for it, not all women are raped, its women's fault to take attention of a man, and women lie about rape' etc. which works to blame the survivor of rape and take away attention from the perpetrator (Johnson et al., 1997). Similarly, 'prostitute myth endorsement' justifies that sex workers, especially women, enjoy their work, they earn a lot of money and hence deserve to get beaten and mistreated in their line of work (Sawyer & Metz, 2009). Also, domestic violence myths, which justifies domestic violence towards women, were found to be high among men and women who have strong traditional gender norms (Rani et al, 2004). Moreover, individuals with high traditional gender role myth endorsement tend to blame the victim, women especially, for domestic violence and support myths as 'A husband can love and beat' etc. (Hüsnü & Mertan, 2017). It is evident that any type of myth endorsement blames the victim and justifies the negative and discriminative actions against them. By

supporting and believing in these myths, people continue to discriminate, use violence, and even kill others whom they think is an outsider.

With regards to the LGBT+ community, many myths may reinforce discrimination, and victimization increasing the rates of depression, stress, discomfort, and anxiety experienced, a concept known as minority stress (Meyer, 1995). Research conducted by Meyer assessed the reasons why members of LGBT+ community have a higher prevalence of mental disorders than heterosexual people. Researcher analyzed the minority stress, sexual prejudice, discrimination, hostile/stressful social environment, and homophobia as reasons behind this high prevalence. It was found that discrimination, stigmatization, rejection, and violence toward LGBT+ individuals are main factors for experiencing high levels of stress which leads to many stress-related psychological disorders (Meyer, 2003). Moreover, individuals from LGBT+ community are more likely to experience depression and mood disorder (Bostwick et al., 2010), develop post-traumatic stress disorder (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2009), anxiety disorders (Cochran et al., 2003), have increased consumption of substance and alcohol (Burgard et al., 2005), and develop suicidal thoughts (Cochran et al., 2003). Besides, gay men are paid less than heterosexual men for same job (Carpenter, 2007), and 20% individuals from sexual minority groups report experiencing crime due to their sexual orientation (Herek, 2009). Moreover, gay individuals are sentenced to prison, flogging, or execution in many Muslim countries (Chua, 2015) which all have a negative impact on well-being. As it can be seen, LGBT+ individuals suffer from inequalities in education, health, justice, business, and they even have to give up on their freedom and life just because society and people do not accept that every individual deserves to be treated fairly, respectfully and to have equal rights.

To support these myths, people might use factors such as religion, politics, cultural norms as justification for the discrimination and negativity they have against LGBT+ because the social/cultural norms (in the form of myths) support sexual prejudice. To date, as far as the researcher is aware, there have been no studies assessing myths toward the LGBT+ community, hence this study aims to fill this void in the literature.

# 1.5 Factors That Predict Anti-LGBT+ Prejudice and Myth Endorsement Toward LGBT+

There are many factors that may reinforce myth endorsement, prejudice, and discrimination toward LGBT+ such as up-bringing (Dweck, 2009; Pirchio et al., 2018), lower education (Thijs et al., 2018), age (Gonsalkorale et al., 2009), socioeconomic status (Williams, 1999) etc. however this study focuses on the role of psychological essentialism, religiosity, and gender.

#### 1.5.1 Psychological Essentialism

Essentialism is derived from 'essence' which refers to shared similarities between kinds and categories such as all tigers have lines over their body, and it makes them unique at the same time from other animal species (Haslam & Whelan, 2008). Essentialism is defined as having an opinion that certain categories have a fixed reality and characteristics that cannot be observed directly (Gelman, 2021). People also think categories or other natural kinds have an essence (Medin & Ortony, 1989) and people who hold essentialist beliefs tend to believe that human characteristics are permanent (Bastian & Haslam, 2006). Innate potential is referred as one of the mechanisms in essentialism that is described as the belief that characteristics or properties are determined at birth and cannot be changed (Gelman et al., 2007).

There are different concepts of essentialism. For instance, gender essentialism suggests that there are fixed and certain characteristics or features that are attributed to men and women and biological sex determines the gender and social roles, and that it is unchangeable (Gülgöz et al., 2019). Social essentialism states that social categories such as race, or ethnicity determine specific features or characteristics of people and are the reason why people come together as a group (Rhodes et al., 2012). Cultural essentialism proposes that there are fixed, unchangeable values, cultural norms and practices that people in that culture hold these attributions (Chao et al., 2017). Moreover, according to Agadullina et al. (2018), psychological essentialism suggests that social categories are natural and fixed. Psychological essentialism includes fixed traits or characteristics that differentiates members of a category from others and define all members within that category based on fixed traits (Haslam, 1998). Formerly, psychological essentialism was assessed by Allport to explain the relation with prejudice and stereotype (Rhodes et al., 2012). Allport stated that individuals who believe traits are fixed and stable are more likely be stereotyped and prejudiced toward others because people assume that social categories, like traits, are unchangeable or essence-based (1954). Moreover, people with high essentialism can use justification for their discriminative and biased behavior (Heyman & Giles, 2006).

Overall, essentialism has been associated with biological factors such as genes, genetic etc. that cannot be changed. In terms of definition, it has always been assumed that essentialist beliefs refer to genetic factors that are used to define or categorize someone (Furnham et al., 1985) and socio-environmental factors are overlooked in literature as a part of psychological essentialism (Sayer, 1997). However, essentialism is not only limited with genetic/biological determinism, but also social determinism should be

taken into consideration. Social determinism is defined as a lay theory which indicates that an individual's characteristics, behaviors, or actions are determined by social factors such as raising, social environment etc. (Rangel & Keller, 2011). It is important to consider and assess social determinism as a part of psychological essentialism because people do not make judgements or categorize others solely based on genetic/biological factors. In a study, researchers aimed to assess whether belief in social determinism comprises essentialist belief by intensifying biological concept of it, whether belief in social determinism and biological determinism are correlated, whether belief in social determinism also increases stereotype and prejudice like genetic determinism. Researchers measured participants' prejudice and beliefs in genetic and social determinism independent from each other. It was found that both beliefs in genetic and social determinism constitute psychological essentialism and participants displayed prejudice and bias toward out-group and in-group favoritism as a result of social determinism. Moreover, results found that participants with high prejudice toward out-group were more likely to endorse social determinism (Rangel & Keller, 2011). Also, studies showed that as the education level of individuals increases, the less they tend to think based on genetic determinism; yet university students have more beliefs in social determinism as a part of essentialist beliefs which shows why they still have prejudice or bias against minority groups (Dambrun et al., 2008). Another study showed the impact of belief in social determinism and manipulation of 'psychological essentialism' which is considered based on genetics. Researchers aimed to assess whether 'women are bad at math' stereotype applies to female participants since they all share same genetic make-up, and whether it would affect their math performance. Participants had written essays and one essay mentioned that differences in math performance are due to genetic while the other

essay mentioned environmental factors such as experience. Also, all participants received non/stereotype threat texts as a test. Participants who had essays regarding the environmental factors in math performance had higher math score than participants who had essays regarding the genetic differences in math performance (Dar-Nimrod & Heine, 2006). As it can be seen, limiting essentialist beliefs with genetic determinism could result with missed opportunities to reduce stereotype and prejudice. Therefore, analyzing social and genetic factors as components of psychological essentialism is crucial to understand why people show discrimination and prejudice and it is significant to recognize that both social and genetic determinism in psychological essentialism can be used to reduce prejudice in a given context. Hence, environmental essentialism was used to refer socio-environmental factors or social determinism in the current study.

As Allport (1954) suggested that essentialist beliefs about social categories can enhance prejudice and bias (as cited in Haslam et al., 2002) was supported in a study conducted by Mandalaywala et al. (2018), to assess whether social essentialist beliefs increase racist attitudes and discrimination toward Black people, researchers conducted three studies by manipulating essentialist beliefs of participants. Results of these studies indicated that essentialism was associated significantly with higher discrimination and prejudice among White participants and participants in proessentialist condition displayed higher prejudice than participants in anti-essentialist condition (Mandalaywala et al., 2018).

With regards to sexual prejudice, it has been found that psychological essentialism is related to prejudice and discrimination towards individuals from LGBT+ community (Kiebel et al., 2020). Psychological-gender essentialism may have a role in increasing

the prejudice and discrimination towards LGBT+ individuals by considering them 'abnormal' and 'different' (Kiebel et al., 2020). These essentialist beliefs not only increase discrimination and prejudice but also increase myths and false beliefs toward LGBT+ individuals (Sheldon et al., 2007). For instance, people who hold more essentialist beliefs tend to think that there are only two genders, female and male, and there should be one sexuality which is heterosexuality. As mentioned by Skewes et al (2018) people who hold essentialist beliefs about gender tend to have higher gender discrimination, sexism, and support traditional gender roles. Therefore, such people might display more hatred, and discrimination against LGBT+ community by marginalizing them (Agadullina et al., 2018). Moreover, individuals with higher essentialist beliefs are more likely to believe that gender is assigned at birth and cannot be changed, and this belief increases stereotypes and bias against the LGBT+ community (Şahin & Yalçınkaya, 2021).

Nevertheless, literature studies suggest that essentialist beliefs or opinions can be manipulated, rejected, or accepted (Falomir-Pichastor & Hegarty, 2014). Moreover, there are some promising results in the literature regarding the relation between essentialist beliefs and prejudice toward homosexuals and/or homosexuality (Kahn & Fingerhut, 2011). For instance, discrimination and prejudice may be lower when a person makes assumptions based on a category than on traits (Prentice & Miller, 2006). So, if a person who relies on categorical assumptions, which are assigning someone to a category based on the social category the person is in such as being male-female, American-Asian etc. (Crisp & Hewstone, 2007), and hence has essentialist beliefs, can be changed, then the bias and discrimination in that person can potentially be decreased as well.

In one study conducted to assess whether essentialist beliefs can be changed and whether this manipulation influences attitudes regarding homosexual sexual orientation. For that purpose, participants were randomly assigned to two experimental conditions in which they were given a text regarding genetic and environmental etiology of homosexual sexual orientation. Then, participants' attitudes toward rights of gay people were measured. Results showed that essentialist beliefs can be manipulated and, more importantly, can be weakened. Participants in environmental condition showed higher negativity and discrimination toward gay people than those in genetic condition (Frias-Navarro et al., 2015). Results of these studies demonstrate the power of essentialism on attitudes.

#### 1.5.2 Religiosity

Religiosity can be defined as one's own link to and adherence for religion (King & Williamson, 2005). Religiosity is one's inclination to develop an attachment and commitment to religious activities and beliefs (Ellis et al., 2019). According to literature, there is a positive correlation between religion and increase in stereotype and discrimination (Janssen & Scheepers, 2019; Roggemans et al., 2015). It has been shown that people with strong religious beliefs tend to show more discrimination towards gay people, and other LGBT members (Janssen & Scheepers, 2019; Whitley, 2009; Hunsberger & Jackson, 2005; Harbaugh & Lindsey, 2015).

An additional study that was conducted with university students revealed that participants who scored higher in religiosity and heteronormativity also received higher scores on homophobia (Hunsberger & Jackson, 2005). As claimed by Chadee et al., in their research which was conducted with 204 female and male university students, it was reported that participants with higher religiosity scores had more bias

toward gay individuals than participants whose religiosity scores were less and who specified no belief in any religion (2017). Furthermore, researchers conducted a study with 529 college students in USA to analyze religiousness and sexual prejudice. As stated by the researchers, amount of commitment to a religion was also found to be positively related with prejudice toward sexual orientation. Moreover, participants with high religious fundamentalism reported higher bias and negativity toward male homosexual individuals (Leak & Finken, 2011).

Findings from another study showed that highly religious people display more homonegativity, which means that having negative or discriminatory attitude toward certain people due to their sexual orientation (Lottes & Grollman, 2010), toward homosexuality and gay individuals. Also, it was found that higher religiosity tends to increase sexual prejudice in people. (Yeck & Anderson, 2019).

Moreover, Barringer et al. emphasized that people with high religiosity in general reported to have more negativity and prejudice toward individuals with different sexual orientations than people with high spirituality (2013). Furthermore, literature studies show that level of commitment, and how religious practices are conducted (public vs. private) may affect the attitude toward homosexuality and gay individuals (Barringer et al., 2013). People who participate religious services and practices regularly tend to hold more prejudicial attitudes toward homosexuality (Sherkat et al., 2011). In addition to that, participating public religious services and practices enhance traditional religious beliefs and increase religiosity, therefore, people who usually attend public religious services tend to display more negativity toward gay individuals (Finlay & Walther, 2003).

Critically, for the current study sexual prejudice is significantly higher among people who have high religiosity and from strict religious groups and this can also be explained with essentialist beliefs embedded in religious writings. For instance, Islam condemns homosexuality, and considers it as a choice (Bonthuys & Erlank, 2012). Therefore, sexual prejudice is high among Muslim people mostly because they have environmental based essentialist beliefs toward gay people and homosexuality, believing that their sexual orientation can be changed (Bonthuys & Erlank, 2012). It is therefore necessary to take into consideration religiosity levels when assessing the influence of essentialist beliefs on LGBTI+ prejudice.

#### **1.5.3** Gender

Definition of gender has been controversial by many researchers. Although it is wrong, gender is usually used interchangeably with sex. For instance, while gender can be defined as traits that are associated with biological sex (Morgenroth & Ryan, 2018), it can also be defined as behaviors, roles, and attributes that are under the impact of social and cultural factors (Freeman & Knowles, 2012). Based on the literature, gender was also found to be related with discrimination/prejudice toward individuals from LGBT+ community. As stated by Roggemans et al., Muslim and Christian male participants displayed more negativity and discrimination toward LGBT+ community than female participants in both religion groups (2015). Moreover, it was found that compared to women, religiosity tends to be more common among men. For instance, men who have high masculinity and sexism are also found to have higher religiosity (Schnabel, 2017). Also, Muslim men are found to be more active and religious than Muslim women (Sullins, 2006). In a study conducted with 200 university students in Turkey, researcher aimed to investigate sexism and attitudes toward LGBT+ individuals. Results revealed that male participants displayed more sexist and negative attitudes

toward male gay individuals than female gay individuals (Sakallı, 2002). In addition to that, a study conducted in Belgium with ethnic, religion minorities and Belgian individuals, researchers stated a significant gender difference in religiosity and sexual prejudice. Muslim male minorities and Belgian male adults who had higher scores on religiosity, also scored higher on homophobia and sexual prejudice than female participants in both groups (Hooghe, 2010). Also, a study, which was conducted with Christian and Muslim students to assess their attitudes toward gay individuals, displayed that Muslim male students had more negativity toward gay individuals and homosexuality than Muslim female students. Among Christian students, male participants reported higher negative attitude toward gay individuals than female students (Roggemans et al., 2015). Higher prejudice and discrimination from men toward gay people were also supported by Yeck and Anderson (2019). In their study, researchers aimed to analyze the relation between gender, religion, and sexual prejudice among 166 heterosexual people. Men displayed more negativity toward male gay individuals than women did (Yeck & Anderson, 2019).

#### 1.6 Context of the Current Study

Based on the literature, the current study aimed to assess the role of religiosity and essentialist beliefs on myth endorsement toward individuals from the LGBT+ community by manipulating the essentialist beliefs of participants toward etiology of homosexual sexual orientation. A number of organizations within the north of Cyprus (e.g., Kuir Cyprus Association) and Turkey (e.g., KAOS-GL, Pembe Hayatlar Dernegi) exist with the aim of supporting LGBT+ people and their human rights. Despite this, they report that discrimination, hate crimes and prejudice against LGBT+'s is high and still a threat to members in Turkey and Cyprus. As stated by Kaos GL, at most 20 cases out of 150 were reported to the police due to fear of

discrimination and judgement by the police, family members, and distrust to authorities. Moreover, out of 150 members of LGBT+, 126 people reported they were victim of verbal assault, 54 people reported threats of violence, and 47 people reported physical violence (Kaos GL Association, 2020). Furthermore, as mentioned by Görkemli (2011), LGBT+ individuals are not hired in public and private sectors due to sexual prejudice, discrimination against them (as cited in Aydin & Ozeren, 2020). Also, especially transgender individuals in Turkey have more difficulties in finding jobs, and in daily life because of their 'trans appearance' (Ucar, 2014). Discrimination and prejudice LGBT+ individuals face in Northern Cyprus is an ignored research area (Şahin, 2021). LGBTI+'s in Northern Cyprus also face discrimination and prejudice (Uluboy & Husnu, 2020). Relatedly, anti-LGBT+ attitudes have recently been found to be most prevalent in a nationally representative sample in the north of Cyprus, whereby high levels of bias and lack of support for human rights have been documented (Kuir Cyprus Association, 2021). Moreover, a recent study which was conducted in Northern Cyprus revealed that 20% of LGBT+ members, especially lesbian individuals, did not come out due to fear of violence and discrimination and 41% preferred to hide their identity because of family and societal pressure (Kuir Cyprus Association, 2022). Also, the same study found that rejection (9%), violence (35%), sexual orientation/gender identity (14%) and death threats (2%) are main reasons why LGBT members have to leave their house or residency (Kuir Cyprus Association, 2022). As it can be seen from the given examples, the status and human rights of LGBT+ individuals in Turkey and North Cyprus are open to development.

Previous studies showed that essentialist beliefs tend to increase the false beliefs and cause more negativity and discrimination toward LGBT+ individuals (Kiebel et al.,

2020), yet essentialist beliefs can be manipulated or changed (Mandalaywala et al., 2018). Therefore, with the use of manipulation, any essentialist belief which are based on discrimination and prejudice can be decreased. For instance, a study which this research is based on, aimed to assess whether manipulating essentialist beliefs about homosexual sexual orientation initiate a decrease or increase in attitudes toward samesex parenting. For that purpose, researchers assigned participants randomly to one of these experimental conditions; genetic and environmental etiology in which participants were given a text to read regarding the etiology of homosexual sexual orientation based on the experimental condition they are assigned to. Texts in both conditions included scientific studies explaining the etiology of homosexual sexual orientation to convince the participant. Before and after the manipulation, researchers measured participants' beliefs about the etiology of homosexuality, the rights of samesex partners, and adoption of children raised by same-sex parents in order to have a comparison of pre- and post-manipulation results. It was hypothesized that participants in environmental etiology condition would have more rejection and bias toward samesex parents and display less support for rights of same-sex couples. Results of the study showed that essentialist beliefs can be changed in a way that if participants believe homosexuality is not affected by environmental factors, then it is possible to reduce discrimination and bias against gay people. Also, participants in environmental etiology condition displayed more support for the idea that homosexuality is affected by environmental factors and participants in genetic etiology showed more support for the idea that homosexuality is genetic and can't be changed. Moreover, participant in environmental condition showed less support for the rights of same-sex couples, samesex parents than those in genetic etiology condition (Frias-Navarro et al., 2015).

In the current study, utilizing the same design of texts on etiology essentialist beliefs of participants toward homosexuality were manipulated by providing video recordings of genetic vs. environmental etiology of homosexual sexual orientation vs. reality condition. Use of texts has been used many times by researchers as a manipulation tool. Although its easiness and effectiveness has been supported, literature findings show that people tend to pay more attention to visualization (Sachin, 2019) and are more likely to recall information when they watch a video than read a text (Fallon et al., 2018). Moreover, by giving texts to participants, many factors such as their reading speed, attention to detail cannot be controlled (Kintsch, 1994). Another reason why video manipulation was preferred for this study is that no similar study has used video recordings as a manipulation tool. Thus, it would be the first to use video recordings as a manipulation on essentialist beliefs to reduce bias and discrimination against LGBT+ and if found to be effective, it can be an effective tool to use in different contexts (e.g., school curricula, TV public service broadcasts, etc.).

Also, as studies suggest, individuals with higher religiosity were found to display more hatred, and discrimination toward LGBT+ community (Hunsberger & Jackson, 2005). Furthermore, Muslim participants are found to hold more prejudice and negativity toward homosexuals/homosexuality than Christian participants (Roggemans et al., 2015). Therefore, religiosity was also assessed to examine the relation with myth endorsement and discrimination toward LGBT+ individuals.

Correspondingly, the hypotheses in the current study were as follow:

 People who have strong religious beliefs are expected to believe in common myths toward the LGBT+ community and have more negative attitudes than those lower in religiosity.

- ii. A gender difference in believing in myth endorsement and attitudes is expected.Men will be higher in myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community and more negative attitudes than women.
- iii. Those participants receiving the environmental etiology condition (high essentialism) will hold more negative beliefs and score higher on common myths toward LGBT+ scale compared to those participants in the genetic etiology condition (low essentialism).
- iv. Those participants receiving the third group (reality condition) will hold the minimum negative attitudes and score lowest on common myths toward LGBT+ scale compared to participants in other two conditions.

# Chapter 2

#### **METHOD**

# 2.1 Participants

A total of 130 participants were recruited for the study. The participants were recruited using convenience and snowball sampling technique via social media platforms (Facebook, Instagram), Microsoft Teams and EMU participant pool. For the purposes of the study, those participants who were not identified as cisgender (N=1), heterosexual (N=10), and participants who did not state agreement with the manipulation check questions (assessed by median split) were excluded from the study (N=7). This left the total sample size as 112. The average age of participants was 22.64 years (SD=5.16). The minimum education level of participants was high school, and maximum was doctorate level (M=3.05, SD=3.76). Bachelor's degree had the highest frequency among participants (N=102, 91%). Based on the g-power analysis, minimum required sample size was 158.

Out of 112 participants, 65 participants were identified as cisgender female (48%), and 47 participants were identified as cisgender male (42%). Ethnicity of participants was as follow; Turk/Turkish (N=93, 83%), Cypriot/TRNC (N=6, 5.4%), Arab (N=4, 3.6%), Kurdish (N=5, 4.5%), Balkan (N=1, 0.9%), Azerbaijani (N=1, 0.9%) and two participants did not give a valid answer. There was a total of 38 participants in reality condition (G1), 32 participants in environmental etiology condition (G2) and 42 participants in genetic etiology condition (G3).

## 2.2 Design

In the current study, an online experimental questionnaire utilizing a video manipulation was designed in order to test the hypotheses of the study using Google Forms. Participants were randomly assigned to two experimental and one reality condition: genetic etiology, environmental etiology condition, and reality group. To increase genetic-base essentialist beliefs toward LGBT+ individuals among participants, participants were given the genetic etiology condition video recording, whereas to increase environmental-based essentialist beliefs among participants, participants were given the environmental etiology condition video recording. For participants in the reality group, a video recording that included actual literature findings for the etiology of homosexual sexual orientation was provided. After watching the videos, participants were given manipulation check questions, myth scale (attitude scale), religiosity and demographic questions in this order to prevent any likely order effects. Study had a 2(gender) x 3(essentialist beliefs) x 2(religiosity) experimental questionnaire design.

#### 2.3 Materials

#### 2.3.1 Video Manipulation

To manipulate participants' essentialist beliefs, two scripts were used from a similar study that manipulated essentialist beliefs (Frias-Navarro et al., 2015). A volunteer was recruited for this study in which a video recording was made of him reading the 3 different scripts. In order to minimize third variables and ensure standardized conditions, the volunteer was chosen outside of the university, and was used in all videos, with the same clothing, speed of speech, same voice tone and same background. In order to manipulate essentialist beliefs toward environmental vs. genetic etiology of homosexual sexual orientation, participants were randomly

assigned to one of the videos. In environmental etiology condition participants were given the video recording in which they were being informed that homosexual sexual orientation is determined by the environmental factors such as parenting. Conversely, participants in the genetic etiology condition were given video recording in which participants were being informed that homosexual sexual orientation is determined biologically, using examples of hormones and twin studies. For participants in reality condition, they were given the video recording in which they were being informed about the actual literature findings on the etiology of homosexual sexual orientation in which a combination of factors might determine orientation. To be able to input the videos in questionnaire in Google Forms, videos were uploaded to YouTube first to receive an URL address. After having an URL address, videos were uploaded to Allocate Monster for receiving a random redirect link for videos and then one link address was distributed to participants.

#### 2.3.2 Manipulation Check Questionnaire

Participants were given Beliefs about Etiology of Sexual Orientation Scale (Cronbach's alpha level  $\alpha=0.85$ ) and Opinions About the Rights of Individuals with Homosexual Sexual Orientation Scale (Cronbach's alpha level  $\alpha=0.83$ ) which were adopted from Frias-Navarro et al. (2015) and tailored according to the need of this study for the video manipulation check and combined under the name of Beliefs About Etiology of Sexual Orientation Scale. The questionnaire had 12 items, and participants were requested to rate the items on a Likert Scale (1=Strongly disagree- 2=disagree-3=neutral- 4=agree- 5=strongly agree). Taken from Beliefs about Etiology of Sexual Orientation Scale, the first four items (e.g., 'One's sexual orientation is caused by biological factors like genes and hormones') aimed to assess participants' opinions about genetic etiology (the Cronbach's alpha was 0.93) and items from five to eight

('A child who is raised by same-sex parents will have a greater probability of having a homosexual sexual preference'; Cronbach's alpha= .88) aimed to assess opinions about environmental etiology of homosexuality. Since there was not an available Turkish version of the questionnaire, items were translated into Turkish by the researcher and back translated by the research supervisor.

#### 2.3.3 Attitudes toward Homosexuality

The last four items taken from Opinions About the Rights of Individuals with Homosexual Sexual Orientation Scale (e.g., 'I have nothing against people with a homosexual sexual orientation, but I don't think it is appropriate to call the union of same-sex-couples marriage') aimed to assess general attitudes of participants regarding marriage and adoption rights of LGBT+'s. The Cronbach's alpha for this subscale was .87, and items were translated into Turkish by the researcher and back translated by the research supervisor. Participants were requested to rate the items on a Likert Scale (1=Strongly disagree- 2=disagree- 3=neutral- 4=agree- 5=strongly agree) and higher scores indicated more negative attitudes toward LGBT+ community.

### 2.3.4 Myths toward LGBTI+

Currently there is no scale in the literature that measures myths toward LGTB+, therefore as part of this thesis, such a scale was developed based on the literature. Participants were given a 'Social Attitudes Scale' in order to assess the common myths they uphold regarding the LGBT+ community. The scale includes 19 items of common myths toward homosexuality and homosexual individuals that were obtained from several sources (Schlatter & Steinback, 2011, Cromer & Goldsmith, 2008, Stakic, 2011). Example items were 'many homosexuals suffer from childhood abuse', 'homosexual people consume more alcohol and substance than heterosexual people', 'homosexuality is not biological, but it is a choice' etc. Participants were requested to

rate the items on a Likert Scale (1=Strongly disagree- 2=disagree- 3=neutral- 4=agree-5=strongly agree) and higher scores indicated higher myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community. The items were subjected to PCA. The KMO value was .94 and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity reached statistical significance which supported the reliability of the scale. PCA revealed the presence of one component with eigenvalues exceeding 1, explaining 65.21% of the variance. An inspection of the scree plot revealed a clear break after the first component. This was further supported by Parallel Analysis, which showed only one component with eigenvalues exceeding the corresponding criterion values for a randomly generated data matrix of the same size (4 variables x 112 respondents). Those items derived from English resources were once again translated into Turkish by the researcher and back translated by the research supervisor.

### 2.3.5 Religiosity Scale and Demographic Questions

In order to eliminate any likely priming effect of religiosity, questions pertaining to religiosity were given before the demographic questions and after the video manipulation. Participants received some items from Mutlu's Religiosity Questionnaire (1989) along with other relevant questions that were added later to the questionnaire. The religiosity questionnaire was edited based on the required sample characteristics which include items that are relevant to Islamic culture such as reading Qur'an, praying, and pilgrimage etc. To assess religiosity, total 9 items aimed to measure whether participants belong to any religion, whether they followed religious obligations and knowledge on Islam. For calculations, participants were given 1 point if they chose 'yes' for reading Qur'an and 0 points if they did not. For the item asking how many times participants read the Qur'an, participants were given 0 points if they did not read it, they were given 1 if they read it one time, and they were given 3 if they

read it more than once. Participants were given 1 if they read all of the Qur'an, and 0 if they didn't read all of the Qur'an. For the item asking whether participants read the original, Turkish translated, they were given 1 for reading it in the original language, 2 for in Turkish translation, 3 for reading in both languages, and 0 was given if they chose none of the options. For religious obligations items, a number was given based on how many options participants chose (1-5) among the provided obligations. Scores of these items were added to create a total religiosity score. For the purposes of this research, scores of the participants who state that they don't feel they belong to any religion were excluded from the study. For statistical analyses, median split method was used to determine high and low religiosity scores of participants. The total reliability of the scale was .77.

Lastly, in the demographic questionnaire, participants' gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and education level were assessed.

#### 2.3.6 Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was received by research and ethics committee at Eastern Mediterranean University. All participants received the same informed consent and debriefing forms. In order to ensure that participants in experimental conditions (genetic vs. environmental etiology) understood there was a video manipulation used in the study, and what they listened in the videos are not scientific and they don't reflect the truth, two debriefing formats were used. First, a debriefing form was obtained from Institute of Graduate Studies and Research at Eastern Mediterranean University. The second debriefing was another video which was created to explain the reason why some studies may use deception, purposes of the current study to use deception and manipulation and that literature findings do not provide a certain cause

for sexual orientation, and regardless of sexual orientation and gender identity, everyone should be respected. In case participants may feel discomfort, offended, or sad, contact information of professionals who working on LGBT+ issues were given in the debriefing form.

### 2.4 Procedure

Three links, which were created by using a free online survey tool developed by Google Forms, were combined under one study link by using Allocate Monster (2016) and were shared in departmental research pool of Eastern Mediterranean University. Additionally, some lecturers, in the Psychology department in EMU, were kindly asked to share the survey links in their online classes which were given to students from any department on Microsoft Teams during Covid19 pandemic. Once participants clicked on one study link and agreed on proceeding by accepting the study terms in Informed Consent, they were automatically assigned to one of three conditions. Then, participants had the video recordings which is followed by Beliefs about Etiology of Sexual Orientation Scale (manipulation check questionnaire). After that, participants received the Social Attitudes Scale (myths scale), Religiosity Scale and Demographic Questionnaire. Participants were thanked for their participation and debriefed about the manipulation. Lastly, Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS – Version 26) was used in order to conduct all the analyses related to the current study.

# **Chapter 3**

## **RESULTS**

A Pearson's correlation analysis showed that there was a significant positive relation between myth endorsement and attitudes as well as religiosity. Similarly, negative attitudes and higher religiosity were positively correlated. Male gender and myth endorsement as well as negative attitudes were correlated. There was no significant relation between gender and religiosity. This can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1. Correlations Between Gender, Myth Endorsement, Attitude and Religiosity

Variables	M	SD	Min Max	1	2	3	4
1. Gender	1.42	.50	1; 2	-			
2. Myth Endorsement	2.11	.87	1;5	.41*	-		
3. Attitude	2.97	1.04	1; 5	.27*	.62*	-	
4. Religiosity	3.88	2.69	1;9	.003	.27*	.32*	-

*Note*: \*Correlation is significant at .01 level.

# 3.1 Manipulation Check

Between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of video manipulation on the two experimental groups and the reality condition. Overall, the video manipulation was found to be effective for both environmental F(2,109) = 9.40, p < .001 and genetic etiology conditions F(2,109) = 13.53, p < .001. See table 1.

Table 2. Mean Values for Beliefs About Etiology of Sexual Orientation Items Between Conditions

Conditions	Genetic Manipulation M (SD)	Environmental Manipulation M (SD)
Reality	3.10 (0.95)	2.82 (0.73)
Environmental	2.51 (0.94)	3.49 (0.65)
Genetic	3.64 (0.91)	2.85 (0.78)

All groups were statistically significant than each other such that for genetic manipulation, those in the genetic condition reported highest score than reality and environmental. For the environmental manipulation, non-significant difference was found between the reality and genetic conditions. Most importantly, participants in the environmental condition scored higher than the genetic condition

#### 3.2 Attitudes

In order to assess the effect of conditions (reality vs. environmental vs. genetic condition), religiosity (high vs. low), and gender (female vs. male) on attitude, a 2x3x2 Factorial ANOVA was conducted on attitudes toward LGBTI+. The main effect of gender F(1, 98)=6.71, p=0.01 was found to be significant. Compared to female participants (M=2.76, SD=0.12), male participants (M=3.26, SD=0.15) had more negative scores on attitude. Moreover, condition had a significant main effect on participants' attitudes toward LGBT community F(2.98)=6.82, p=0.002. Participants in environmental etiology condition had higher scores (M=3.52, SD=0.18) on attitude than participants in reality (M=2.71, SD=0.17) and genetic etiology conditions (M=2.79, SD=0.16). Although there was no significant main effect of religion F(1.98)=1.31, p=0.26, results showed that participants with high religiosity

had more negative attitudes (M= 3.12, SD= 0.14) than those with low religiosity (M= 2.90, SD= 0.14).

No significant two way interaction effect between religion-gender F(1,98)=0.60, p=0.44, religion-condition F(2,98)=0.83, p=0.44, gender-condition F(2,98)=1.49, p=0.23 and three way interaction effect between religion-gender-condition F(2,98)=1.28, p=0.28 was found. Although there was not a significant interaction effect between religion and condition, results revealed that participants had more negative attitudes in reality (M= 2.93, SD= 0.27) and genetic etiology (M=2.98, SD=0.23) conditions when religiosity was high. Moreover, participants in environmental condition (M=3.59, SD=0.28) had more negative attitudes when religiosity was low.

## 3.3 Myth Endorsement

2x3x2 ANOVA was conducted to assess mean differences between gender, conditions, and religiosity on myth endorsement. Analyses showed that there is a significant main effect of gender F(1,98) = 22.32, p < .001 Female participants scored less (M = 1.81, SD = 0.62) on myth endorsement compared to male participants (M = 2.53, SD = 1.00). Furthermore, a significant main effect for condition F(2,98) = 9.91, p < .001 was found. Post hoc analyses showed that participants in environmental etiology condition showed higher myth endorsement (M = 2.62, SD = 0.13) compared to the reality condition (M = 1.88, SD = 0.13) and the genetic condition (M = 2.00, SD = 0.12). No significant difference was found between reality and genetic conditions. Statistically significant difference was found between reality and environmental, and environmental and genetic conditions. The means and standard deviations can be seen in Table 2.

Table 3. Mean and Standard Deviations for Myth Endorsement Between Groups.

Condition	Gender	Religiosity	Mean	Std. Deviation
Reality	F 1	Low	1.62	0.58
	Female	High	1.99	0.69
		Low	1.91	0.72
	Male	High	2.01	0.50
Environmental		Low	2.14	0.82
	Female	High	1.64	0.48
	Male	Low	3.37	1.06
		High	3.34	0.89
Genetic	Female	Low	1.69	0.53
		High	1.91	0.64
	Male	Low	1.68	0.70
		High	2.72	0.79

According to analysis, religion did not have a significant main effect on myth endorsement F(1,98) = 2,02, p = 0.16. However, it was found that participants with low religiosity (M = 2.07, SD = 0.10) scored less on myth than those with high religiosity (M = 2.27, SD = 0.10).

According to analysis, there was a significant two way interaction effect for conditiongender F(2, 98) = 7.54, p = 0.001. Male (M=3.35, SD=0.19) and female (M=1.89, SD=0.17) participants in environmental condition scored highest compared to other groups. For the genetic and reality conditions there was no significant difference between men and women. In the environmental condition however, male participants (M=3.35, SD=.19) scored higher in myths compare to women (M=1.89, SD=.17).

Table 4. Mean and Standard Deviations for Condition\*Gender Two-way Interaction Effect on Myth Endorsement.

Condition	Gender	Mean (M)	Std. Error
Reality	Female	1.81	0.14
	Male	1.96	0.21
Environmental	Female	1.89	00.17
	Male	3.35	0.19
Genetic	Female	1.80	0.16
	Male	2.20	0.17

Also, there was a significant two way interaction effect for condition-religion on myth endorsement F(2, 98) = 3.40, p = 0.04. Results showed that for low religiosity, those in the reality condition showed less myth endorsement than those in the environmental. In addition to that, those in the genetic condition showed less myth endorsement than those in the environmental condition. As for those participants with high religiosity, no significant differences were found between the conditions, see Table 4 for descriptive statistics.

Table 5. Mean and Standard Deviations for Condition\*Religiosity Two-way Interaction Effect on Myth Endorsement.

Condition	Religiosity	Mean	Std. Error
	High	2.00	0.20
Reality	Low	1.76	0.16
Environmental	High	2.49	0.16
	Low	2.76	0.20
Genetic	High	2.32	0.17
	Low	1.69	0.16

## Chapter 4

## **DISCUSSION**

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of religiosity, gender, and essentialist beliefs on myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community. Although previous research has shown the role of religiosity (Hinrichs & Rosenberg, 2002; Herek, 2002; Worthen, 2012) essentialist beliefs (Haslam & Levy, 2006; Kiebel et al., 2020) and gender (Falomir-Pichastor et al., 2010; Ratcliff et al., 2006) on discrimination and prejudice toward LGBT+ community, the current study was the first one to apply an experimental questionnaire design to the subject with video recordings to manipulate essentialist beliefs. The current study included participants who speak Turkish, identify as cisgender female/male and Muslim.

Results showed that video manipulation was successful. Analyses showed a significant difference between experimental conditions this shows that it is possible to manipulate beliefs regarding attitudes and myths to different social groups, in this case LGBT+'s. It was hypothesized that individuals with high religiosity would have higher myth endorsement toward LGBT+'s. Also, a gender difference was expected; men would show higher myth endorsement than women participants. Additionally, participants in environmental etiology condition were expected to have higher myth endorsement compared to participants in genetic etiology condition. Lastly, participants in reality condition would have the minimum myth endorsement than participants in genetic and environmental etiology conditions.

Findings supported the first hypothesis by indicating that participants with high religiosity in reality and genetic etiology conditions displayed higher myth endorsement than those with lower religiosity. Literature also shows that high religiosity is associated with more negative attitudes and higher discrimination against sexual minority groups (Ng & Gervais, 2017; Rowatt et al., 2009; Yilmaz et al., 2016; Rowatt et al., 2006; Štulhofer & Rimac, 2009). Moreover, engaging in religious activities in public such as attending religious services, reading religious books enhances prejudice and myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community (Worthen, 2016; Adamczyk & Pitt, 2009; Jäckle & Wenzelburger, 2015). However, findings also showed that participants in environmental etiology condition with lower religiosity scored higher on myth endorsement than participants with high religiosity. It can be interpreted such that religiosity was not as effective in environmental etiology condition as in other groups. The reason of this finding can be explained such that participants with high religiosity in environmental condition might held attitudes or beliefs that enhance genetic etiology of homosexuality. For instance, for many religions and religious beliefs, human beings are created by God and every individual is special, important, and loved by God (Jeremiah, 2012; Greenway, 2011). It is not possible to anticipate why participants with low religiosity showed more myth endorsement toward LGBT+ but with highly religious participants, 'acknowledging that LGBT+ members can't change who they are and yet they are still loved by God' could affect their myth endorsement and attitude towards them. Another factor is the effect of essentialist beliefs over religiosity in a way that lower religiosity might have enhanced participants' beliefs regarding the environmental etiology of homosexuality. For instance, since those participants had lower religiosity and religious beliefs, 'acknowledging that LGBT+ individuals are still a human being who deserves to be

loved and respected' might not be the case. Therefore, with high essentialism on environmental etiology of homosexuality, focus of those participants could be 'gay individuals can stop being gay if they want to'. This finding shows a promising implication that religiosity can also be used to change essentialist beliefs and even to reduce discrimination and myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community. Although, previous studies have shown that high religiosity increases prejudice and stereotype (Janssen & Scheepers, 2019; Roggemans et al., 2015), accepting, and loving side of the religions and religious beliefs can enhance the positive attitude toward LGBT+ and reduce myth endorsement.

Results also indicated a main effect of gender on myth endorsement. In line with the second hypothesis, male participants had higher myth endorsement than female participants in all conditions. Gender differences on myth endorsement, prejudice and discrimination toward LGBT+ community has been supported previously in the literature (Rampullo et al., 2013; Vieira de Figueiredo, & Pereira, 2021). Furthermore, male participants had more negative attitudes toward LGBT+'s than female participants. There are several reasons why heterosexual men display higher prejudice and myth endorsement toward gay individuals. For instance, authoritarianism is found to be linked with more prejudicial opinion, negative attitude, and rejection especially among men (Lippa & Arad, 1999; Ching et al., 2020; Duckitt, 2006; Gormley & Lopez, 2010). Also, social dominance orientation which supports the idea that some social groups should be controlled, that there should be a hierarchy and inequality has been found to be positively correlated with negative attitudes, and discrimination (Duncan et al., 1997; Turner & Reynolds, 2003), which is found to be higher in men compared to women (Licciardello et al., 2014; Pratto et al., 2000). Furthermore, people

with high masculinity, acceptance, and obedience to traditional gender norms such as being strong, assertive, and independent tend to have more negative attitudes and higher myth endorsement toward gay individuals which are again found more strongly in men than women (Kranz, 2021; Franklin, 2000; Kilianski, 2003; Parrott et al., 2002).

Third hypothesis which expected participants in environmental condition to have higher myth endorsement was also supported. Participants in environmental etiology condition had more negative attitudes and highest myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community than other conditions. This finding indicates the significant impact of essentialist beliefs on attitude and myth endorsement toward LGBT+ community. Findings from other studies also reveal that myth endorsement and discrimination are lower when people have essentialist beliefs of the biological etiology of homosexual sexual orientation (Kahn & Fingerhut, 2011; Haslam et al., 2002; Hegarty, 2010). However, if people believe that etiology of homosexuality can be changed and is based on environmental factors such as social learning, homosexual parents, society, then discrimination and myth endorsement toward LGBT+ increases (Frias-Navarro et al., 2015; Finken, 2002; Waterman et al., 2001). Moreover, forming pro-gay attitudes and reducing myth endorsement toward LGBT+ were found in people who were led to think that etiology of homosexuality is biological and cannot be changed (Hegarty & Pratto, 2001; Eldridge et al., 2006; Hegarty, 2002.; Horvath & Ryan, 2003; Jayaratne et al., 2006; Malcomnson et al., 2006). In the light of these findings, it is important to understand whether people assume sexual orientation and gender identity can be changed, such that it affects their essentialist beliefs and attitudes toward LGBT+'s.

Therefore, to tackle prejudice and reduce myth endorsement toward sexual minority groups, essentialist beliefs should be the first to change.

Lasty, participants in reality condition had the lowest scores on attitude and myth endorsement which supports the hypothesis. A significant main effect for condition on attitudes and myth endorsement was found. Findings revealed that, regardless of gender, participants in environmental etiology condition had the highest negative attitudes and myth endorsement followed by participants in genetic etiology condition. Even though, participants in reality condition had the lowest score, results indicate that the overall mean value for myth endorsement in the reality group was moderate. This finding suggests that the lowest myth endorsement actually still exists at moderate degrees.

Findings from the current study should be assessed attentively for several reasons. Firstly, sample size was relatively small compared to required size based on g-power analysis. Therefore, number of participants was not enough to assess minimal differences between groups. Also, due to not having a funding, a professional enunciator for the video recordings could not be found. Therefore, it is possible that factors such as speed of speech, pronunciation, hand movements, gestures of the enunciator etc. could cause problems in equivalence of the videos. Religiosity was another limitation to this study in a way that there was no statistically significant difference between groups in myth endorsement when participants had high religiosity. As in line with literature, this finding indicates that manipulation was not effective when religiosity was high and shows that even participants in genetic and reality condition had myth endorsement toward LGBT+'s (Roggemans et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2012; Jäckle & Wenzelburger, 2015; Leak & Finken, 2011; Hicks &

Lee, 2006). This might also be because the religiosity questions used mostly aimed to assess religious practices but not implicit beliefs which might also affect the total religiosity scores of participants. Furthermore, characteristics of the participants such as being undergraduate student, and average age being young (M=22.64 years) can create generalizability problems. Also, even though translation of the scales and manipulation texts were necessary as there was none in the Turkish literature, it is important to develop more culturally valid scales for a better understanding. Moreover, the items that were used to measure attitude toward LGBT+ community were about attitudes toward LGBT+ family and adoption which can create problems in assessing the general attitude toward LGBT+. Lastly, the environment or context where participants participate in the study could affect their responses.

In spite of these limitations, the current study has significant research and applied implications. As social identity and social categorization theories suggest, people assign others to different social groups and categories based on socially supported characteristics such as age, gender, race, sexual orientation etc. (Barth et al., 2021; Karnadewi & Lipp, 2011). Categorization of others is based on the perceived similarity and differences with others, stereotype, prejudice, and essentialist beliefs toward outgroup etc. (Liberman et al., 2017). The role of essentialist beliefs on social categorization have been studied by many, and it was found that essentialist beliefs shape how out-group is perceived (Bailey et al., 2021; O'Driscoll et al., 2021). Moreover, essentialist beliefs enhance category-based generalization (Rips, 2001), affects inter-group relations, and increase stereotype toward others (Prentice & Miller, 2006; Chao et al., 2007). Pursuant to results, the impact of essentialist beliefs on social categorization was supported. The current study found that essentialist beliefs are a

significant factor in encouraging myth endorsement and prejudice toward LGBT+ community as well as categorizing others as out-group. As in line with Allport, people who believe that homosexuality is sickness, sin, and not moral had higher myth endorsement and negative attitude toward LGBT+ individuals. Moreover, environmental-based essentialist beliefs were found to enhance anti-LGBT+ prejudice and myth endorsement toward gay individuals regardless of level of religiosity. Allport suggested that traits or characteristics that would be assumed as fixed by people would increase prejudice and stereotypical behavior (1954), however, current study found that participants in genetic etiology condition had less myth endorsement and negative attitude than participants in environmental etiology condition. This finding can be explained by interpreting that essentialist beliefs enhance prejudice when it's used to make generalization and include all the members of a community or a group. Also, when people think that a behavior or a trait is fixed at birth, that would leave no opportunity or chance to change that behavior, so an individual simply cannot be blamed of his/her specific action. However, when people assume that a behavior or a trait can be changed, then people immediately hold the individual responsible from her/his actions. Therefore, it is important to know and differentiate on what basis people hold these essentialist beliefs to make a judgement.

Also, video recordings were used first time in the literature to manipulate essentialist beliefs of participants. Success of this manipulation showed that essentialist beliefs can be changed via video recordings and different manipulation methods can be used in the literature. In addition to that, in terms of research and practical implication, it would be fascinating to assess and compare the effectiveness of video and other manipulation methods, such as texts, in reducing myth endorsement and prejudice

toward LGBT. With further studies, a targeted intervention can be developed based on the more successful manipulation technique.

Furthermore, current study was the first to translate scales regarding etiology of homosexual sexual orientation into Turkish and develop a Myth Scale which reached high reliability to assess the myth endorsement of participants toward LGBT+ community, however it is necessary that the psychometric qualities of this scale be further developed to ensure its validity.

In conclusion, it is vital to end such myths because they have a severe negative impact on the well-being of individuals from the LGBT+ community which are essentially their basic human rights. Moreover, interventions to increase tolerance, to reduce discrimination toward LGBT+'s need to be furthered. Training programs aimed at increasing awareness of the negative consequences of such myths, the impact of discrimination, as well as the negative effects of essentialist beliefs should be developed. By doing so we may contribute to creating a more equal, fair, and safe future for everyone, regardless of their sexual orientation and gender identity.

## REFERENCES

- Adamczyk, A., & Pitt, C. (2009). Shaping attitudes about homosexuality: The role of religion and cultural context. *Social Science Research*, 38(2), 338–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2009.01.002
- Agadullina, E., R., Lovakov, A., V., & Malysheva, N., G. (2018). Essentialist beliefs and social distance towards gay men and lesbian women: a latent profile analysis.

  \*Psychology\*\* and \*Sexuality\*, 9(4), 288–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/19419899.2018.1488764
- Allport G. W. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Addison-Wesley, Oxford.
- American Psychological Association. (2015). Key terms and concepts in understanding gender diversity and sexual orientation among students. *APA*, 19–22. https://www.genderspectrum.org/understanding-gender%0Ahttps://www.apa.org/pi/lgbt/programs/safe-supportive/lgbt/key-terms.pdf
- APA. (2021). Myths That Stigmatize LGBTQ People Strong Family Alliance. APA. https://www.strongfamilyalliance.org/parent-guide/essential-info/myths-that-stigmatize-lbgtq-people/
- APA Dictionary of Psychology. (2020). *Social dominance orientation*. https://dictionary.apa.org/social-dominance-orientation

- Atria. (2021). *Unforgettable Women: Hande Kader*. Institute on Gender Equality and Women's History. https://institute-genderequality.org/news-publications/extraordinary-women/unforgettable-women/unforgettable-women-hande-kader/
- Aultman, B. (2014). Cisgender. *Transgender Studies Quarterly*, 1(2), 61–62. https://doi.org/10.1215/23289252-2399614
- Aydin, E., & Ozeren, E. (2020). Inclusion and exclusion of sexual minorities at organizations: Evidence from LGBT NGOs in Turkey and the UK. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 33(3), 567–578. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-01-2019-0025
- Bailey, A. H., Knobe, J., & Newman, G. E. (2021). Value-based essentialism:

  Essentialist beliefs about social groups with shared values. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 150(10), 1–75.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000822
- Barringer, M. N., Gay, D. A., & Lynxwiler, J. P. (2013). Gender, religiosity, spirituality, and attitudes toward homosexuality. *Sociological Spectrum*, *33*(3), 240–257. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2013.732903
- Barth, D. M., Mattan, B. D., & Cloutier, J. (2021). Social categorization by age of faces. *Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Psychological Science*, 1(3), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19650-3\_2433

- Bastian, B., Haslam, N. (2006). Psychological essentialism and stereotype endorsement. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 42(2), 228-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2005.03.003
- Berger, A. A. (2018). *Myth and Everyday Life*. In Perspectives on Everyday Life (pp. 51-58). Palgrave Pivot, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-99795-7\_8
- Bernuy, B., & Noe, H. (2017). Sexism and homophobia in adolescents of a public educational institution. *Propósitos y Representaciones*, 5(2), 245–275.
- Blechner, M. J. (2015). Bigenderism and bisexuality. *Contemporary Psychoanalysis*, 51(3), 503–522. https://doi.org/10.1080/00107530.2015.1060406
- Bolle, W. K. (2021). *Myth*. Brittanica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/myth/Relation-of-myths-to-other-narrative-forms
- Bonthuys, E., & Erlank, N. (2012). Modes of (in)tolerance: South African Muslims and same-sex relationships. *Culture, Health and Sexuality*, *14*(3), 269–282. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2011.621450
- Bosse, J. D., & Chiodo, L. (2016). It is complicated: gender and sexual orientation identity in LGBTQ youth. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23–24), 3665–3675. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13419
- Bostwick, W. B., Boyd, C. J., Hughes, T. L., & McCabe, S. E. (2010). Dimensions of

- sexual orientation and the prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(3), 468–475. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.152942
- Burgard, S. A., Cochran, S. D., & Mays, V. M. (2005). Alcohol and tobacco use patterns among heterosexually and homosexually experienced California women.

  \*Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 77(1), 61–70.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.07.007
- Burn, S. M. (2019). The Psychology of Sexual Harassment. *Teaching of Psychology*, 46(1), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628318816183
- Brown, R. (2011). *Prejudice: Its social psychology* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons. https://books.google.com.tr/books?hl=en&lr=&id=0DWtZ2efDYoC&oi=fnd&p g=PT5&ots=LMCQs7uCyC&sig=8as8U9ULbWkYoQuPQQcCXOscGQc&redi r\_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Chakraborti, N. (2018). Responding to hate crime: Escalating problems, continued failings. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, *18*(4), 387–404. https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895817736096
- Carpenter, C. S. (2007). Revisiting the income penalty for behaviorally gay men: Evidence from NHANES III. *Labour Economics*, 14(1), 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2005.06.001
- Chadee, D., Joseph, C., Peters, C., Sankar, S. V., Nair, N., & Philip, J. (2017).

Religiosity and attitudes towards homosexuals in a Caribbean environment. Social and Economic Studies, 62(1), 1–28. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/24384494.pdf

- Chao, M. M., Takeuchi, R., & Farh, J. L. (2017). Enhancing cultural intelligence: The roles of implicit culture beliefs and adjustment. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(1), 257–292. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12142
- Chao, M. M., Chen, J., Roisman, G. I., & Hong, Y. (2007). Essentializing Race:

  Implications for Bicultural Individuals' Cognition and Physiological

  Reactivity. *Psychological Science*, 18(4), 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01901.x
- Ching, B. H.-H., Xu, J. T., Chen, T. T., & Kong, K. H. C. (2020). Gender Essentialism, Authoritarianism, Social Dominance Orientation, and Filial Piety as Predictors for Transprejudice in Chinese People. *Sex Roles*. https://doi:10.1007/s11199-020-01123-3
- Chua, J. (2015). Sexual Rights and the Internet in Iraq. Giswatch.Org. https://giswatch.org/en/country-report/internet-rights/iraq
- Cochran, S. D., Sullivan, J. G., & Mays, V. M. (2003). Prevalence of mental disorders, psychological distress, and mental health services use among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71(1), 53–61. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.71.1.53

- Cohen, S, P. (1969). Theories of Myth. *JSTOR*, 4(3), 337–353. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2798111
- Crisp, R. J., & Hewstone, M. (2007). Multiple Social Categorization. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology Volume 39*, 163–254. https://doi:10.1016/s0065-2601(06)39004-1
- Cromer, L., D., Goldsmith, R., E. (2008). Child sexual abuse myths: Attitudes, beliefs and individual differences. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, *19*(6), 618-647. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2010.522493
- Cunningham, J., & Light, R. (2016). Institutional Discrimination. *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology, 1–*3. https://doi:10.1002/9781405165518.wbeos076710.1002/9781405165518.w
- Damante, R. (2016). Can Education Reduce Prejudice Against LGBT People? The Century Foundation. https://tcf.org/content/commentary/can-education-reduce-prejudice-lgbt-people/
- Dambrun, M., Kamiejski, R., Haddadi, N., & Duarte, S. (2008). Why does social dominance orientation decrease with university exposure to the social sciences? The impact of institutional socialization and the mediating role of "geneticism." *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 39(1), 88–100. https://doi:10.1002/ejsp.498
- Dar-Nimrod, I., & Heine, S. J. (2006). Exposure to Scientific Theories Affects

- Women's Math Performance. *Science*, *314*(5798), 435–435. https://doi:10.1126/science.1131100
- Davis-Delano, L. R., Kuchynka, S. L., Bosson, J. K., & Morgan, E. M. (2020).
  Heterosexual people's reactions to same-sex romantic or sexual overtures: The role of attitudes about sexual orientation and gender. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 49(7), 2561–2573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-020-01804-w
- Duckitt, J. (2006). Differential Effects of Right Wing Authoritarianism and Social Dominance Orientation on Outgroup Attitudes and Their Mediation by Threat From and Competitiveness to Outgroups. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(5), 684–696. https://doi:10.1177/0146167205284282
- Duncan, L. E., Peterson, B. E., Winter, D. G. (1997). Authoritarianism and gender roles: Toward a psychological analysis of hegemonic relationships. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 23(1), 41-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167297231005
- Dweck, C. S. (2009). Prejudice: How it develops and how it can be undone. *Human Development*, 52(6), 371–376. https://doi.org/10.1159/000242351
- Edwards, K. M., Turchik, J. A., Dardis, C. M., Reynolds, N., & Gidycz, C. A. (2011).

  Rape Myths: History, individual and institutional-level presence, and implications for change. *Sex Roles*, 65(11–12), 761–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-011-9943-2

- Eldridge, V. L., Mack, L., & Swank, E. (2006). Explaining Comfort with Homosexuality in Rural America. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 51(2), 39–56. https://doi:10.1300/j082v51n02\_03
- Ellis, L., Farrington, D., P., & Hoskin, A., W. (2019). Institutional factors. In Elsevier (Ed.), Handbook of Crime Correlates (2nd ed., pp. 105-162). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804417-9.00003-X
- Fallon, M., Mahon, M. A., & Coyle, M. (2018). Watching screencasts help students learn APA format better than reading the manual. *Teaching of Psychology*, 45(4), 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628318796415
- Falomir-Pichastor, Juan M., & Hegarty, P. (2014). Maintaining distinctions under threat: Heterosexual men endorse the biological theory of sexuality when equality is the norm. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *53*(4), 731–751. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12051
- Falomir-Pichastor, Juan Manuel, Martínez, C., & Paterna, C. (2010). Gender-role's attitude, perceived similarity, and sexual prejudice against gay men. *Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 13(2), 841–848. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600002493
- Farr, R. H., Salomon, I., Brown-Iannuzzi, J. L., & Brown, C. S. (2019). Elementary school-age children's attitudes toward children in same-sex parent families.

  \*\*Journal of GLBT Family Studies\*, 15(2), 127–150.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2018.1452659

- Figueiredo, V., C., & Pereira, C., R. (2021). The effect of gender and male distinctiveness threat on prejudice against homosexuals. *Journal of personality* and social psychology, 121(6), 1241–1257. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000269
- Finken, L. L. (2002). The Impact of a Human Sexuality Course on Anti-Gay Prejudice.

  \*\*Journal of Psychology & Human Sexuality, 14(1), 37–46. https://doi:10.1300/j056v14n01\_03
- Finlay, B., & Walther, S., C. (2003). The relation of religious affiliation, service attendance, and other factors to homophobic attitudes among university students.

  \*Review of Religious Researches Research, 44(4), 370–393. https://doi.org/10.2307/3512216
- FRA. (2013). EU LGBT Survey: Results at a Glance. https://doi.org/10.2811/37741
- Franklin, K. (2000). Antigay Behaviors Among Young Adults: Prevalence, Patterns, and Motivators in a Noncriminal Population. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *15*(4), 339–362. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626000015004001
- Freeman, J., & Knowles, K. (2012). Sex Vs. Gender: Cultural competence in health education research. *American Journal of Health Studies*, 27(2), 122–125. http://ezproxy.umuc.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hch&AN=83866347&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Frias-Navarro, D., Monterde-i-Bort, H., Pascual-Soler, M., & Badenes-Ribera, L. (2015). Etiology of homosexuality and attitudes toward same-sex parenting: A

- randomized study. *Journal of Sex Research*, *52*(2), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2013.802757
- Furnham, A., Johnson, C., & Rawles, R. (1985). The determinants of beliefs in human nature. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6, 675–684. https://doi:10.1016/0191-8869(85)90078-9
- García Johnson, C. P., & Otto, K. (2019). Better together: A model for women and LGBTQ equality in the workplace. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00272
- Gelman, S. A. (2021). *Essentialism in everyday thought*. American Psychological Association. https://www.apa.org/science/about/psa/2005/05/gelman
- Gelman, S. A., Heyman, G. D., & Legare, C. H. (2007). Developmental Changes in the Coherence of Essentialist Beliefs about Psychological Characteristics. *Child Development*, 78(3), 757–774. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4620667
- Gonsalkorale, K., Sherman, J. W., & Klauer, K. C. (2009). Aging and prejudice:

  Diminished regulation of automatic race bias among older adults. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(2), 410–414.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2008.11.004
- Greenway, W. (2011). To Love as God Loves: The Spirit of Dominion. *Review & Expositor*, 108(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/003463731110800104

- Gormley, B., & Lopez, F. G. (2010). Authoritarian and homophobic attitudes: Gender and adult attachment style differences. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *57*(4), 525–538. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918361003608715
- Gülgöz, S., DeMeules, M., Gelman, S. A., & Olson, K. R. (2019). Gender essentialism in transgender and cisgender children. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(11), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224321
- Harbaugh, E., & Lindsey, E. W. (2015). Attitudes toward homosexuality among young adults: Connections to gender role identity, gender-typed activities, and religiosity. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(8), 1098–1125. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2015.1021635
- Haslam, N., & Whelan, J. (2008). Human natures: Psychological essentialism in thinking about differences between people. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 2(3), 1297–1312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00112.x
- Haslam, N., & Levy, S. R. (2006). Essentialist beliefs about homosexuality: structure and implications for prejudice. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *32*(4), 471–485. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167205276516
- Haslam, N., Rothschild, L., & Ernst, D. (2002). Are essentialist beliefs associated with prejudice? *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 41(1), 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466602165072
- Haslam, N. (1998). Natural kinds, human kinds and essentialism. Social Research, 65,

- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Keyes, K. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2009). State-level policies and psychiatric morbidity in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(12), 2275–2281. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.153510
- Hegarty, P. (2010). A stone in the soup? Changes in sexual prejudice and essentialist beliefs among British students in a class on LGBT psychology. *Psychology and Sexuality*, 1(1), 3–20. doi:10.1080/19419891003634356
- Hegarty, P. 2002. 'It's not a choice, it's the way we're built': Symbolic beliefs about sexual orientation in the United States and in Britain. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 12: 1–14
- Hegarty, P., & Pratto, F. (2001). Sexual orientation beliefs. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 41(1), 121–135. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v41n01\_04
- Herek, G., M. (2009). Hate crimes and stigma-related experiences among sexual minority adults in the United States: Prevalence estimates from a national probability sample. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(1), 54–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316477
- Herek, G., M. (2002). Heterosexual's attitudes toward bisexual men and women in the United States. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 39(4), 264-274. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490209552150

- Heyman, G., & Giles, J. (2006). Gender and psychological essentialism. *Enfance;*\*Psychologie, Pedagogie, Neuropsychiatrie, Sociologie, 58(3), 293–310.

  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3082140/
- Hicks, G. R., & Lee, T-T. (2006). Public Attitudes Toward Gays and Lesbians. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 51(2), 57–77. https://doi:10.1300/j082v51n02\_04
- Hinrichs, D. W., & Rosenberg, P. J. (2002). Attitudes toward gay, lesbian, and bisexual persons among heterosexual liberal arts college students. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 43(1), 61–84. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v43n01\_04
- Hooghe, M. (2010). The impact of gendered friendship patterns on the prevalence of homophobia among Belgian late adolescents. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 40(3), 543–550. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-010-9635-y
- Horvath, M. & Ryan, A. M. (2003). Antecendents and potential moderators of the relationship between attitudes and hiring discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation. *Sex Roles*, 48: 115–130.
- Hubbard, L. (2021). Hate Crime Report 2021: Supporting LGBT+ victims of hate crime. GALOP. https://galop.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Galop-Hate-Crime-Report-2021-1.pdf
- Human Wrights Watch. (2020). *Hungary: Intensified Attack on LGBT people*.

  Hrw.Org. https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/11/18/hungary-intensified-attack-lgbt-people

- Hunsberger, B., & Jackson, L. M. (2005). Religion, meaning, and prejudice. *Journal of Social Issues*, 61(4), 807–826. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2005.00433.x
- Hüsnü, Ş., & Mertan, B., E. (2017). The roles of traditional gender myths and beliefs about beating on self-reported partner violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 32(24), 3735-3752. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515600879
- Jäckle, S., & Wenzelburger, G. (2015). Religion, religiosity, and the attitudes toward homosexuality—A multilevel analysis of 79 countries. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(2), 207–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2014.969071
- Janssen, D. J., & Scheepers, P. (2019). How religiosity shapes rejection of homosexuality across the globe. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 66(14), 1974–2001. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2018.1522809
- Jayaratne, T. E., Ybarra, O., Sheldon, J. P., Brown, T. N., Feldbaum, M., Pfeffer, C.
  A., & Petty, E. M. (2006). White Americans' Genetic Lay Theories of Race
  Differences and Sexual Orientation: Their Relationship with Prejudice toward
  Blacks, and Gay Men and Lesbians. *Group Processes & Intergroup*Relations, 9(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430206059863
- Jeremiah, D. (2012). God Loves You: He Always Has--He Always Will. *Hachette UK*.
- Johnson, M. K., Rowatt, W. C., & LaBouff, J. P. (2012). Religiosity and prejudice revisited: In-group favoritism, out-group derogation, or both? *Psychology of*

- Johnson, B. E., Kuck, D. L., & Schander, P. R. (1997). Rape myth acceptance and sociodemographic characteristics: A multidimensional analysis. *Sex Roles*, 36(11–12), 693–707. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1025671021697
- Kahn, K. B., & Fingerhut, A. W. (2011). Essentialist beliefs and sexual prejudice against gay men: Divergence at the levels of categories versus traits. *Psychology and Sexuality*, 2(2), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/19419899.2010.536562
- Kaos GL Association. (2020). Homophobia and transphobia based hate crimes in Turkey. *Kaos GL Cultural Research and Solidarity Association*. https://kaosgldernegi.org/images/library/2020nefret-suclari-raporu-2019-eng.pdf
- Karnadewi F, Lipp OV. 2011. The processing of invariant and variant face cues in the Garner paradigm. *Emotion* 11(3):563–71.
- Kiebel, E., Bosson, J. K., & Caswell, T. A. (2020). Essentialist beliefs and sexual prejudice toward feminine gay men. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 67(8), 1097–1117. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2019.1603492
- Kilianski, S. E. (2003). Explaining heterosexual men's attitudes toward women and gay men: The theory of exclusively masculine identity. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *4*(1), 37–56. https://doi.org/10.1037/1524-9220.4.1.37
- King, J. E., & Williamson, I. O. (2005). Workplace religious expression, religiosity

and job satisfaction: Clarifying a relationship. *Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion*, 2(2), 173–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/14766080509518579

- Kintsch, W. (1994). Text comprehension, memory, and learning. *American Psychologist*, 49(4), 294–303. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.49.4.294
- Kite, M. E., & Deaux, K. (1987). Gender belief systems: Homosexuality and the implicit inversion theory. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 11(1), 83–096. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.1987.tb00776.x
- Koehler, W. J., & Copp, H. (2021) Observations of LGBT-specific bullying at a state university. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 25(4), 394-407. https://doi:10.1080/19359705.2020.1850594
- Kranz, D. (2021). Associations between fathers' masculinity orientation and anticipated reaction toward their child's coming out. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12(December). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.711988
- Kuir Cyprus Association. (2022). *Mapping Study on Access of LGBTI +s ' to Existing Social Services*. https://www.queercyprus.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Mapping-Study-On-ACCESS-OF-LGBTIs-TO-EXISTING-SOCIAL-SERVICES-IN-THE-NORTHERN-PART-OF-CYPRUS.pdf

Kuir Cyprus Association. (2021). History of Queer Cyprus Association. Kuir Kıbrıs.

- Kurdyla, V., Messinger, A. M., & Ramirez, M. (2021). Transgender intimate partner Vpviolence and help-eeeking patterns. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 36(19–20), NP11046–NP11069. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519880171
- Leak, G. K., & Finken, L. L. (2011). The relationship between the constructs of religiousness and prejudice: A structural equation model analysis. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 21(1), 43–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508619.2011.532448
- Lesbian Gay Bisexual Transgender Center. (2021). Sexual Orientation Myths & Facts.

  Case Western Reserve University. https://case.edu/lgbt/safe-zone/sexual-orientation-myths-facts
- Lesbian & Gay Community Services Center. (2022). What is LGBTQ? https://gaycenter.org/about/lgbtq/
- Liberman, Z., Woodward, A. L., & Kinzler, K. D. (2017). The origins of social categorization. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(7), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01462
- Licciardello, O., Castiglione, C., Rampullo, A., & Valentina, S. (2014). Social dominance orientation, cross-group friendship and prejudice towards homosexuals. *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *116*(2014), 4988–4992. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1060

- Lippa, R., & Arad, S. (1999). Gender, personality, and prejudice: The display of authoritarianism and social dominance in interviews with college men and women. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 33(4), 463–493. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.1999.2266
- Lorenzo, I. (2019). *The Stonewall uprising: 50 years of LGBT history*. Stonewall.Org. https://www.stonewall.org.uk/about-us/news/stonewall-uprising-50-years-lgbt-history
- Lottes, I. L., & Grollman, E. A. (2010). Conceptualization and assessment of homonegativity. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 22(4), 219–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/19317611.2010.489358
- Madon, S. (1997). What do people believe about gay males? A study of stereotype content and strength. *Sex Roles*, *37*(9–10), 663–685. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02936334
- Malcomnson, K. M., Christopher, A. N., Franzen, T., & Keyes, B. J. (2006). The Protestant work ethic, religious beliefs, and homonegative attitudes. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 9*(5), 435–447. https://doi:10.1080/13694670500264068
- Mandalaywala, T. M., Amodio, D. M., & Rhodes, M. (2018). Essentialism promotes racial prejudice by increasing endorsement of social hierarchies. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *9*(4), 461–469. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550617707020

- Mark, J. J. (2018). *Mythology*. World History. https://www.worldhistory.org/mythology/
- Medin, D., & Ortony, A. (1989). Psychological essentialism. In S. Vosniadou & A.Ortony. (Eds.). Similarity and Analogical Reasoning (pp. 179–195). New York,NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Meyer, I H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(5), 674–697. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Meyer, H. (1995). Minority stress and mental health in gay men. *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior, 36(1), 38–56.
- Mills, A. (2010). Etiological Myth. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-71802-6
- Morgenroth, T., & Ryan, M. K. (2018). Gender trouble in Social Psychology: How can Butler's work inform Experimental Social Psychologists' conceptualization of gender? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(July), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01320
- Morris, B. J. (2009). *History of Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender social movements*. American Psychological Association. https://www.apa.org/pi/lgbt/resources/history
- Mutlu, K. (1989). The religiosity scale: the discussion of methodology in

- Ng, B. K. L., & Gervais, W. M. (2017). Religion and prejudice. In C. G. Sibley & F. K. Barlow (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of the psychology of prejudice* (pp. 344–370). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316161579.015
- O'Driscoll, D., Taylor, L, K., & Dautel, J, B. (2021). Essentialist beliefs affect children's outgroup empathy, attitudes, and prosocial behaviors in a setting of intergroup conflict. International Journal of Psychology, 56(1), 151-156. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12679
- O'Neil, M. E., McWhirter, E. H., & Cerezo, A. (2008). Transgender identities and gender variance in vocational psychology: Recommendations for practice, social advocacy, and research. *Journal of Career Development*, *34*(3), 286–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845307311251
- Parrott, D. J., Adams, H. E., & Zeichner, A. (2002). Homophobia: Personality and attitudinal correlates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(7), 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00117-9
- PG Action. (2021). *LGBTI Myths vs. Reality*. Pgaction.Org. https://www.pgaction.org/inclusion/practical-tools/myths-and-reality.html
- Pirchio, S., Passiatore, Y., Panno, A., Maricchiolo, F., & Carrus, G. (2018). A chip off the old block: Parents' subtle ethnic prejudice predicts children's implicit

- prejudice. Frontiers in Psychology, 9(February), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00110
- Pratto, F., Liu, J. H., Levin, S., Sidanius, J., Shih, M., Bachrach, H., & Hegarty, P. (2000). Social Dominance Orientation and the Legitimization of Inequality Across Cultures. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 31(3), 369–409. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022100031003005
- Prentice, D. A., & Miller, D. T. (2006). Essentializing differences between women and men. *Psychological Science*, 17(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01675.x
- Prentice, D. A., & Miller, D. T. (2006). Psychological essentialism of human categories. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *16*(4), 202–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00504.x
- Rampullo, A., Castiglione, C., Licciardello, O., & Scolla, V. (2013). Prejudice toward gay men and lesbians in relation to cross- group friendship and gender. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 84, 308–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.557
- Rangel, U., & Keller, J. (2011). Essentialism goes social: Belief in social determinism as a component of psychological essentialism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 100(6), 1056-1078. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022401
- Rani, M., Bonu, S., Diop-Sidibe, N. (2004). An empirical investigation of attitudes

towards wife-beating among men and women in seven sub-saharan African countries. *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 8(3), 116-136. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3583398

- Ratcliff, J. J., Lassiter, G. D., Markman, K. D., & Snyder, C. J. (2006). Gender differences in attitudes toward gay men and lesbians: The role of motivation to respond without prejudice. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(10), 1325–1338. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167206290213
- Rhodes, M., Leslie, S. J., & Tworek, C. M. (2012). Cultural transmission of social essentialism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(34), 13526–13531. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1208951109
- Rips, L. J. (2001). Necessity and natural categories. *Psychological Bulletin*, 127(6), 827–852. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.827
- Roggemans, L., Spruyt, B., Droogenbroeck, F. Van, & Keppens, G. (2015). Religion and negative attitudes towards homosexuals: An analysis of urban young people and their attitudes towards homosexuality. *Young*, 23(3), 254–276. https://doi.org/10.1177/1103308815586903
- Rowatt, W. C., LaBouff, J., Johnson, M., Froese, P., & Tsang, J.-A. (2009). Associations among religiousness, social attitudes, and prejudice in a national random sample of American adults. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, *1*(1), 14–24. https://doi:10.1037/a0014989

- Rowatt, W. C., Tsang, J.-A., Kelly, J., Lamartina, B., Mccullers, M., & Mckinley, A. (2006). Associations Between Religious Personality Dimensions and Implicit Homosexual Prejudice. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 45(3), 397–406. https://doi:10.1111/j.1468-5906.2006.00314.x
- Sachin. (5 April 2019). Reading vs. Watching Videos-Which One Works Better?

  Writoscope. https://www.writoscope.com/reading/reading-vs-watching-videos-which-one-worksbetter/#:~:text=Reading%20is%20an%20active%20process,in%20more%20rete
  ntion%20of%20information
- Sayer, A. (1997). Essentialism, Social Constructionism, and beyond. *The Sociological Review*, 45(3), 453–487. https://doi:10.1111/1467-954x.00073
- Skewes, L., Fine, C., Haslam, N. (2018). Beyond Mars and Venus: The role of gender essentialism in support for gender inequality and backlash. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200921
- Staats, G., R. (1978). Stereotype content and social distance. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 4(1), 15-27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J082v04n01\_02
- Sakallı, N. (2002). The relationship between sexism and attitudes toward homosexuality in a sample of Turkish college students. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 42(3), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v42n03\_04
- Sawyer, S. P., & Metz, M. E. (2009). The attitudes toward prostitution scale:

- Preliminary report on its development and use. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 53(3), 334–347. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X08316706
- Sax, L. (2002). How common is intersex? A response to Anne Fausto-Sterling. *Journal of Sex Research*, 39(3), 174–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490209552139
- Scandurra, C., Mezza, F., Maldonato, N. M., Bottone, M., Bochicchio, V., Valerio, P., & Vitelli, R. (2019). Health of non-binary and genderqueer people: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10(June). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01453
- Schlatter, E., & Steinback, R. (2011). *10 Anti-Gay Myths Debunked*. SPLC-Southern Poverty Law Center. http://www.splcenter.org/get-informed/intelligence-report/browse-all-issues/2010/winter/10-myths
- Schnabel, L. (2017). Gendered religiosity. *Review of Religious Research*, *59*(4), 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13644-017-0302-9
- School of Humanities and Social Sciences. (2021). *Psychology Myths*. Indiana East University. https://www.iue.edu/hss/psychology-myths/index.html
- Sheldon, J. P., Pfeffer, C. A., Epstein Jayaratne, T., Feldbaum, M., & Petty, E. M. (2007). Beliefs about the etiology of homosexuality and about the ramifications of discovering its possible genetic origin. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *52*(3–4), 111–150. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v52n03\_06

- Sherkat, D. E., Powell-Williams, M., Maddox, G., & de Vries, K. M. (2011). Religion, politics, and support for same-sex marriage in the United States, 1988-2008. 

  Social Science Research, 40(1), 167–180. 
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2010.08.009
- Stakic, I. (2011). Homophobia and hate speech in Serbian public discourse: how nationalist myths and stereotypes influence prejudices against the LGBT minority [Master's Thesis, University of Tromso]. The Arctic University of Norway.
- Steadman, L. B., & Palmer, C. T. (1997). Myths as instructions from ancestors: The example of Oedipus. *Zygon: Journal of Religion and Science*, *32*(3), 341–350. https://doi.org/10.1111/0591-2385.00095
- Steffens, M. C., Niedlich, C., Beschorner, R., & Köhler, M. C. (2019). Do positive and negative stereotypes of gay and heterosexual men affect job-related impressions? Sex Roles, 80(9–10), 548–564. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0963-z

Stonewall. (2016). *LGBTQ+ facts and figures*. Stonewall.

- Stonewall. (2018). *Lgbt in Britain- Health*. Stonewall. https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt\_in\_britain\_health.pdf
- Stonewall. (2018). *LGBT in Britain Work Report*. Stonewall. https://www.stonewall.org.uk/lgbt-britain-work-report
- Stotzer, R. L., & Shih, M. (2012). The relationship between masculinity and sexual

- prejudice in factors associated with violence against gay men. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, *13*(2), 136–142. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023991
- Strong Family Alliance. (2017). *Myths That Stigmatize LGBTQ People*. https://www.strongfamilyalliance.org/parent-guide/essential-info/myths-that-stigmatize-lbgtq-people/
- Štulhofer, A., & Rimac, I. (2009). Determinants of Homonegativity in Europe. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 46(1), 24–32. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20620396
- Sullins, P. (2006). Gender and religion: Deconstructing universality, constructing complexity. *American Journal of Sociology*, 112(3), 838–880. https://doi.org/10.1086/507852
- Şahin, Ö., & Yalçınkaya, N. (2021). The gendered brain: Implications of exposure to neuroscience research for gender essentialist beliefs. *Sex Roles*, 84(9–10), 522–535. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-020-01181-7
- Şahin, S. (2021). Coming out: The role of journalism in social exclusion of LGB people. *Journalism*, 22(1), 215–230. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884918769462
- Taşkın, L., Erenel, A. Ş., Sözbir, Ş. Y., Gönenç, İ. M., Yücel, Ç., Dikmen, H. A., & Çetinkaya, Ş. Ş. (2020). Sexual Health/Reproductive Health-Related Problems of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender People in Turkey and Their Health-Care Needs. Florence Nightingale journal of nursing, 28(1), 97–109. https://doi.org/10.5152/FNJN.2020.19032

- Thijs, P., Te Grotenhuis, M., & Scheepers, P. (2018). The paradox of rising ethnic prejudice in times of educational expansion and secularization in the Netherlands, 1985–2011. *Social Indicators Research*, 139(2), 653–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1718-x
- Turner, J. C., & Reynolds, K. J. (2003). Why social dominance theory has been falsified. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 42(2), 199–206. https://doi:10.1348/014466603322127184
- Ucar, Z. (2014). Silencing LGBT employees at work within the context of Turkey.

  Sexual Orientation and Transgender Issues in Organizations, Springer, October,
  217–232.

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309312194\_Silencing\_LGBT\_Emplo
  yees\_at\_Work\_within\_the\_Context\_of\_Turkey
- Uluboy, Z., & Husnu, S. (2020). Turkish Speaking Young Adults Attitudes toward Transgender Individuals: Transphobia, Homophobia and Gender Ideology.

  \*Journal of Homosexuality, 1–19. doi:10.1080/00918369.2020.1813510

  10.1080/00918369.2020.1813510
- United Nations Human Rights. (2021). Combatting discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity. United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. https://www.ohchr.org/en/issues/discrimination/pages/lgbt.aspx
- Vaes, J. (2006). "They" are less human than "We" are: Modern prejudice in human terms. *Cahiers de l'Urmis*, 10–11, 10–11. https://doi.org/10.4000/urmis.184

- Van Anders, S. M. (2015). Beyond sexual orientation: Integrating gender/sex and diverse sexualities via sexual configurations theory. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44, 1–37. https://doi:10.1007/s10508-015-0490-8
- Vance, S. R., Ehrensaft, D., & Rosenthal, S. M. (2014). Psychological and medical care of gender nonconforming youth. *Pediatrics*, 134(6), 1184–1192. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0772
- Vieira de Figueiredo, C., & Pereira, C. R. (2021). The effect of gender and male distinctiveness threat on prejudice against homosexuals. *Journal of personality* and social psychology, 121(6), 1241–1257. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000269
- Waterman, A. D., Reid, J. D., Garfield, L. D. & Hoy, S. J. (2001). From curiosity to care: Heterosexual student interest in sexual diversity courses. *Teaching of Psychology*, 28: 21–26.
- Whitley, B. E. (2009). Religiosity and attitudes toward lesbians and gay men: A metaanalysis. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 19(1), 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508610802471104
- Williams, D. R. (1999). Race, socioeconomic status, and health the added effects of racism and discrimination. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 896, 173–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08114.x
- Worthen, M. G. F. (2016). Hetero-cis-normativity and the gendering of transphobia.

  \*International Journal of Transgenderism, 17(1), 31–57.

- Worthen, M., G., F. (2012). Understanding college student attitudes toward LGBT individuals. Sociological Focus, 45(4), 285-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2012.712857
- Yeck, A. T., & Anderson, V. N. (2019). Homosexuality as Haram: Relations among gender, contact, religiosity, and sexual prejudice in Muslim individuals. *Sex Roles*, 81(3–4), 192–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0989-2
- Yenilmez, M., I. (2021). LGBTQIs in Turkey: The Challenges and Resilience of This Marginalized Group. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, *18*, 440–449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-020-00471-9
- Yilmaz, O., Karadöller, D. Z., & Sofuoglu, G. (2016). Analytic Thinking, Religion, and Prejudice: An Experimental Test of the Dual-Process Model of Mind. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 26(4), 360–369. https://doi:10.1080/10508619.2016.1151117
- Zambelich, A., & Hurt, A. (2016). *3 Hours in Orlando: Piecing Together An Attack And Its Aftermath*. Npr.Org. https://www.npr.org/2016/06/16/482322488/orlando-shooting-what-happened-update

**APPENDICES** 

### **Appendix A: Manipulation Check Questionnaire**

Lütfen size uygun olan şıkkı işaretleyiniz.

		K	K	K	K	K
		e	a	a	a	e
		S	t	r	t	S
		i	1	a	1	i
		n	1	r	1	n
		1	m	S	1	1
		i 1-	1	1	y	i 1-
		k l	y	Z	o r	k l
		e	o r	1 m	u	e
		K	u	111	m	K
		a	m		111	a
		t				t
		1				1
		1				1
		m				1
		1				у
		У				0
		О				r
		r				u
		u				m
1	Facina da ain a da segundia a annativa ha via la annala anna him	m				
1.	Eşcinsel cinsel yönelim genetiğe bağlı kaçınılmaz bir					
	davranıştır.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Kişinin cinsel yönelimi genler ve hormonlar gibi					
	biyolojik nedenlerden kaynaklanmaktadır.	1	2	3	4	5
	oryotojik nedemerden kaynakianmaktadir.					
3.	Genetik faktörler eşcinsel cinsel yönelimin					
		1	2	3	4	5
	nedenleridir.	•	_	5	•	
4.	İnsanlar eşcinsel doğabileceği için eşcinsel cinsel					
	, , , ,	1	2	2	4	_
	yönelim bir seçim değildir.	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Eşcinsel cinsel yönelimi olan ebeveynler tarafından					
	1.0.0.0.01					
	büyütülen çocukların da büyük ihtimalle eşçinsel	1	2	3	4	5
	cinsel yönelimi olur.					
	cinser youchill old.					
L						

6. Çocukların onlara maskülen ve feminen rolleri sağlayabileceği anne ve babaya ihtiyaçları vardır.	1	2	3	4	5
7. Hem-cins ebeveynlerin çocukların cinsel yönelimini etkilediğini düşünüyorum.	1	2	3	4	5
8. Çoğu durumda, eşcinsel cinsel yönelimler öğrenilir.	1	2	3	4	5
9. Aynı cinsiyetten bireyler arasında gerçekleşen evliliği yasallaştırmanın bir hata olduğunu düşünüyorum.	1	2	3	4	5
10. Her çocuğun anne ve babadan oluşan normal bir ailede büyüme hakkı vardır.	1	2	3	4	5
11. İnsanların cinsel yönelimlerine saygım var fakat evlat edinmelerine izin vermek çocuğun geleceğini içerdiğinden, anne ve babanın olması çocugun gelişimini en iyi destekler.	1	2	3	4	5
12. Eşcinsel cinsel yönelimi olan insanlara saygım var fakat hem-sex bireyler arasındaki ilişkiye evlilik denmesini doğru bulmuyorum.	1	2	3	4	5

### **Appendix B: Myth Scale**

Lütfen size uygun olan şıkkı işaretleyiniz.

	K	K	K	K	K
	e	a	a	a	e
	S	t	r	t	S
	i	1	a	1	i
	n	1	r	1	n
	l i	m	S	1	l i
	k	1 y	1 Z	y o	k
	1	O	1	r	1
	e	r	m	u	e
	K	u		m	K
	a	m			a
	t				t
	1				1
	1				1
	m				1
	1				y o
	y o				r
	r				u
	u				m
	m				
1. Eşcinseller sekse daha çok düşkünlerdir, cinsellik					
önemlidir hayatlarında.	1	2	3	4	5
2. AIDS eşcinsel hastalığıdır.	1	2	3	4	5
3. Eşcinseller rastgele cinsel ilişki yaşarlar.	1	2	3	4	5
4. Eşcinseller uzun süreli sevgiye dayalı ilişki					
kuramazlar.	1	2	3	4	5
5. Eşcinsel eşlerden biri kadın biri erkek rolüne					
J. Egeniser egierden biri kadin biri erkek foldite					
bürünür.	1	2	3	4	5
6. Eşcinseller doktor, psikolog, din adamı, öğretmen,					
asker, polis, ve sporcu olamaz.	1	2	3	4	5
7. LGBTI+ kişiler mutlu olamazlar.	1	2	3	4	5

8. Eşcinsellik hastalıktır.	1	2	3	4	5
9. Eşcinsellik ilgi çekme isteğidir.	1	2	3	4	5
10. Eşcinseller heteroseksüellerden daha fazla çocuk istismarında bulunurlar.	1	2	3	4	5
11. Eşcinsel ebeveynler çocuklarının eşcinsel olmalarına neden olurlar.	1	2	3	4	5
12. Birçok eşcinsel bireyin çocukluğunda istismar vardır.	1	2	3	4	5
13. Eşcinsellerin yaşama süresi kısadır.	1	2	3	4	5
14. Eşcinsel bireyler daha fazla alkol ve uyuşturucu tüketir.	1	2	3	4	5
15. Eşcinsellik doğuştan gelmez, eşcinsellik bir seçimdir.	1	2	3	4	5
16. Eşcinsellerin heteroseksüellerden daha fazla suç kaydı vardır.	1	2	3	4	5
17. Eşcinsellik topluma zararlıdır.	1	2	3	4	5
18. Eşcinsellik bir ruh sağlığı bozukluğudur.	1	2	3	4	5
19. Eşcinsel erkekler toplumda kolayca farkedilir.	1	2	3	4	5

## **Appendix C: Religiosity Questions**

Kendinizi ait hissettiğiniz herhangi bir dini inanç var mıdır?
a) Evet
b) Hayır
Eğer varsa hangisidir? Lütfen aşağıda belirtiniz. (Örn. İslam, Hristiyanlık, Yahudilik
vs.)
Kısa Cevap
Eğer dini vecibeleri (şartları) yerine getiren bir Müslüman iseniz, lütfen aşağıda,
kendinizi tanımladığınız mezhebi belirtiniz. (Örn. Şafii, Hanefi, Alevi vs.)
Kısa Cevap
Lütfen varsa ebeveyn(ler)inizin dini inançlarını aşağıda belirtiniz.  Kısa Cevap
Daha önce Kur'an-ı Kerimi okudunuz mu?
a) Evet
b) Hayır
Kaç defa okudunuz?
Kısa Cevap
Tümünü mü okudunuz?
a) Evet
b) Hayır

Orijinal Arapça olanını mı yoksa Türkçe çevirisini (tefsir) mi okudunuz?

- a) Orijinal dil
- b) Türkçe tefsir
- c) Her ikisini de
- d) Hiçbiri

Dini yükümlülüklerinizi ne kadar yerine getirirsiniz? Birden fazla işaretleyebilirsiniz.

- a) Namaz kılmak
- b) Oruç tutmak
- c) Hacca gitmek
- d) Zekat vermek
- e) Camiye gitmek

#### **Appendix D: Demographic Questions**

Lütfen cinsiyetinizi belirtiniz						
a) Erkek						
b) Kadın						
c) Diğer						
d) Cevap vermemeyi tercih ederim						
Lütfen yaşınızı aşağıda belirtiniz.						
Kısa Cevap						
Lütfen etnik kökeninizi aşağıda belirtiniz.						
Kısa Cevap						
Lütfen cinsel yöneliminizi belirtiniz.						
a) Heteroseksüel (Karşı cinse ilgi duymak)						
b) Eşcinsel (Aynı cinse ilgi duymak)						
Biseksüel (Bütün cinsiyetlere ilgi duymak)						
d) Diğer						
e) Cevap vermemeyi tercih ederim						
Lütfen eğitim seviyenizi aşağıda belirtiniz.						
a) İlköğretim						
b) Lise						
c) Lisans Derecesi						
d) Yüksek Lisans Derecesi						

Bu	çalışmaya	katılarak	dersinizden	bonus	puan	kazanmak	istiyorsanız	öğrenci
num	aranızı giri	iniz.						
			_Kısa Cevap	o				
Bu çalışmaya katılarak dersinizden bonus puan kazanmak istiyorsanız lütfen ders								
kodı	unuzu ve gi	rup numara	anızı belirtini	z.				
			Kısa Cevar	<b>)</b>				

e) Doktora

# Appendix E: Eastern Mediterranean University's Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Board Approval Letter



#### Eastern Mediterranean University

"Virtue, Knowledge, Advancement"

Galileo Galilei Sk. / Str., 99628, Gazimağusa, KUZEY KIBRIS / Famagusta, NORTH CYPRUS, via Mersin 10, TURKEY Tel: (+90) 392 630 1327 bayek@**emu.**edu.tr

Bilimsel Araştırma ve Yayın Etiği Kurulu (BAYEK) / Board of Scientific Research and Publication Ethics

Reference No: ETK00-2021-0054

21.10.2021

Subject: Your application for ethical approval.

Re: Pınar Tekşen Rasheed and Prof. Dr. Şenel Hüsnü Raman

Faculty of Arts and Sciences

EMU's Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Board (BAYEK) has approved the decision of the Ethics Board of Psychology (date: 20.10.2021, issue: 21/12) granting Pınar Tekşen Rasheed and Prof. Dr. Şenel Hüsnü Raman from the Faculty of Arts and Scienes to pursue their work titled "Reducing myth endorsement towards LGBTI+ to tackle prejudice towards gender diversity and sexual orientation"

Best Regards

Prof. Dr. Yücel Vural

Chair, Board of Scientific Research and Publication Ethics - EMU

YV/ek.

www amu adu tr